

This paper has been prepared by the EFRAG Secretariat for discussion at a public meeting of EFRAG [FR-TEGFRB](#). The paper forms part of an early stage of the development of a potential EFRAG position. Consequently, the paper does not represent the official views of EFRAG or any individual member of the EFRAG FRB or EFRAG FR TEG. The paper is made available to enable the public to follow the discussions in the meeting. Tentative decisions are made in public and reported in the EFRAG Update. EFRAG positions, as approved by the EFRAG FRB, are published as comment letters, discussion or position papers, or in any other form considered appropriate in the circumstances.

[Draft] Comment Letter

You can submit your comments on EFRAG's draft comment letter by using the 'Express your views' page on [EFRAG's website](#), then open the relevant news item and click on the comment publication link at the end of the news item.

Comments should be submitted by 6 January 2025

International Accounting Standards Board

7 Westferry Circus, Canary Wharf

London E14 4HD

United Kingdom

[XX January 2025]

Dear Mr Barckow,

Re: Exposure Draft Equity Method of Accounting IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* (revised 202x)

On behalf of the EFRAG, I am writing to comment on the Exposure Draft Equity Method of Accounting IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* (revised 202x), issued by the IASB on 19 September 2024 (the 'ED').

This letter is intended to contribute to the IASB's due process and does not necessarily indicate the conclusions that would be reached by EFRAG in its capacity as advisor to the European Commission on the endorsement of definitive IFRS Accounting Standards in the European Union and European Economic Area.

EFRAG acknowledges that the primary focus of the ED is to address existing application challenges, reduce the existing diversity in practice in the application of IAS 28 requirements, enhance the understandability of these requirements, and increase the comparability of reported information. [The focus of ED is not on fundamentally revising the equity method.](#) The feedback

we have received so far indicates that, overall, stakeholders consider the ED's proposals will help to reduce existing diversity in practice as intended and are a positive step.

~~**General comment – A need for coherence and a more explicit articulation of the underlying conceptual principles:**~~ EFRAG is also cognisant that ~~the ED is not focused on fundamentally revising the equity method nor is it focused on clarifying whether the equity method is either a measurement approach or one-line consolidation. EFRAG understands that a more fundamental review would likely lengthen the project duration and defer the resolution of current application challenges.~~

~~At the same time, it is not always clear whether, in the ED's proposals, the IASB has made an implicit assumption of the equity method being a consolidation approach or measurement method or both. We acknowledge that, as evaluated in past EFRAG proactive research, the equity method can be a hybrid approach and there is unlikely to be a straightforward answer to the fundamental question of what the purpose and primary conceptual feature of the equity method is.~~

~~Nonetheless, the inconsistent units of account (see responses to Questions 2-6 and treatment of deferred tax in the measurement of cost (i.e., with both features of a consolidation approach and measurement method) and that the focus of the ED is resolving existing practical application changes where there is diversity in practice. Nonetheless, EFRAG observes that the proposals of the ED will also result in a significant change in the equity method as currently applied (e.g., full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with associates and joint ventures, and the mandated requirement of the same equity method in the consolidated and separate financial statements). In other words, the ED is not simply a clarification of the application of existing IAS 28 requirements. Consequently, notwithstanding that EFRAG agrees with the premise that the equity method has hybrid features (i.e., has features of both a consolidation and measurement method), EFRAG considers the IASB could be clearer than is currently the case on the conceptual underpinnings of investment), the emphasis on simplification that is only selectively done towards some proposed solutions of the significant amendments (e.g., for the full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with associates and joint ventures), and especially with the variation in the implicit conceptual premise and principles related to the equity method across the ED's proposals, accentuates the need for the IASB to be always explicit backdrop of concerns about the underpinning conceptual assumptions of the ED's proposals. In other words, to be explicit and clearer than is currently the case about the assumptions about the nature of the equity method that is behind the choices of each of the solutions put forward to address the identified practical application challenges. That is, for each proposed solution to a potential~~

~~earnings management). Such clarity could help in addressing application challenge, explain whether or not the IASB has accorded primacy to the equity method as either a consolidation approach or measurement method, questions that may arise in the future and in ensuring relevant information is provided for users.~~

~~Overall, there remains the need for the IASB to ultimately address the fundamental question of what the equity method is, and whether it is still a useful approach to apply in accounting for investments where the investor/reporting has significant influence (i.e., associates and joint ventures).~~

Areas where EFRAG supports the ED's specific proposals: EFRAG supports the following proposals in the ED:

- Measurement of the cost of an associate or joint venture: EFRAG generally supports the ED's proposal for the measurement of the cost of associates or joint ventures (i.e., the cost of an investment when significant influence is obtained is the fair value of consideration transferred, including the fair value of previously held ownership interest and the fair value of the contingent consideration).
- Transactions of an investor/reporting entity with associates and joint ventures requiring the full recognition of related gains or losses: Overall, though there are stakeholder concerns about possible structuring opportunities arising from the ED's proposal, especially for joint ventures and downstream transactions, EFRAG considers the proposal will result in a desirable consistency in the application of the equity method for all transactions with associates or joint ventures. It is also a simplified and less costly solution compared to the other alternatives considered by the IASB. Moreover, the required disclosures can alleviate the concerns about structuring opportunities including through roundtrip transactions.
- Separate financial statements: The ED proposes the application of a single equity method across consolidated and separate financial statements prepared under IFRS Accounting Standards. While acknowledging the concerns expressed in the Alternative View, EFRAG generally supports the ED's proposal and considers that introducing two versions of the equity method would introduce unnecessary complexity. That said, there is a need for EFRAG to further explore if there are any particular concerns related to the ED's proposal within EU jurisdictions. This ~~will be~~ done ~~during the ongoing outreach and~~ via a question to constituents. EFRAG also suggests that the IASB clarifies whether the ED's proposals

for the equity method are applicable when an investment is measured at cost in the separate financial statements.

- Disclosures: Based on users' feedback, EFRAG supports the proposed disclosures. ~~Nonetheless, EFRAG is aware of preparer concerns about the cost of the reconciliation of opening and closing carrying amount and the commercial sensitivity of the disclosures related to gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures. Therefore, during the ongoing outreach and via questions to constituents, EFRAG seeks to further assess the cost-benefit balance of the proposed disclosures.~~
- Impairment indicators: On balance, EFRAG is supportive of the ED's proposals related to the indicators of impairment of associates or joint ventures. EFRAG supports albeit acknowledging there are mixed stakeholder views on the proposed removal of "significant or prolonged decline in fair value" as an indicator of impairment. ~~Supporters of this removal expect reduced judgment and diversity in practice while those against are of the view that it will increase the frequency of impairment testing in a manner that is costly and burdensome to apply. In supporting the removal,~~ EFRAG takes into account that this criterion was removed while developing IFRS 9 requirements for the impairment of financial assets and consistency in the accounting requirements for similar transactions is desirable.

EFRAG's specific concerns with the ED's proposals: EFRAG has also highlighted key concerns and made suggestions for the following proposals:

- Measurement of cost of an associate or joint venture: The ED is silent on whether transaction costs are included in the carrying amount of the investment. EFRAG recommends that they should and this is in line, ~~in this instance,~~ with according primacy to the equity method as a measurement method rather than a consolidation approach. ~~If the emphasis is on the equity method as a consolidation approach, then transaction costs should be expensed as done under IFRS 3 July 2009 IFRIC update.~~ We also have a question seeking constituents' views on the treatment of transaction costs.
- ~~Though EFRAG is supportive of the ED's proposal for a purchase price allocation and recognition of goodwill on acquisition of ownership interests, we acknowledge some stakeholders including users have reservations about goodwill recognition being required for equity-method-accounted investments and included in the carrying amount of the investment. We also point to the inconsistencies in the units of account respectively applied for goodwill and bargain purchase gains.~~ EFRAG supports the ED's proposed measurement of the carrying amount of equity-method-accounted investments and we

recommend that bargain purchase gains on acquiring additional ownership interests should first be offset against the previously held goodwill included in the carrying amount of the investment and be only recognised in profit or loss if there is no goodwill amount to offset.

- Through a question to constituents, EFRAG is also exploring if there are any issues related to the ED's proposed inclusion of deferred taxes in the carrying amount of the investment because EFRAG has received mixed views on this proposal.
- ~~Changes of Acquiring additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence: (layered approach): Though EFRAG notes is supportive of the inconsistencies in units ED's proposal to treat each additional acquired layer as a separate unit of account could distort the representation of the economics of the investments. We also highlight, EFRAG highlights stakeholders' concerns about the cost and complexity of aspects of the proposed layered approach (i.e., accounting having to perform a purchase price allocation for the each acquisition of additional ownership interests) and we propose). We highlight stakeholders' proposed alternatives and seek constituents' views on these and any other alternatives. We also recommend that the IASB further assesses the cost-benefit balance of the proposed layered approach and consider how it could be simplified.~~
- ~~EFRAG also recommends that Other changes in ownership interest while retaining significant influence and via non-exchange transactions (e.g., an associate's or joint venture's issuance or redemption of shares): As opposed to treating these other changes as deemed purchases or disposals of ownership interest, due to the associated cost and complexity, EFRAG recommends that changes in ownership arising from non-exchange transactions (those addressed in ED, issued hybrid instruments etc.,) should be scoped out of the amendments until a holistic, principles-based solution that captures all non-exchange transactions (those addressed in ED, hybrid instruments issuance etc.,) can be developed.~~
- Recognition of investor's share of losses: EFRAG recommends that in addition to the ED's proposals, the IASB should prohibit the recognition of additional goodwill for acquired additional interest when the carrying amount of the investment is reduced to nil. Moreover, we note several areas that the proposals for recognition of share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income need further clarification and enhancement.
- Transition requirements: For practicability reasons, EFRAG disagrees with the required retrospective transition in respect of a) the recognition of full gains or losses from

transactions with associates and joint ventures; and b) the fair value of contingent consideration in the measurement of the cost of the associate or joint venture. ~~We recommend that the IASB requires the retrospective transition approach unless difficulties faced in providing this information necessitate prospective transition for these two items (for TEG discussion) or only require prospective transition for all items. EFRAG is cognisant that if different entities can use either the retrospective or prospective transition approaches, it would undermine comparability across entities. But the retrospective approach whenever it can be applied (e.g., for companies that have recorded unrecognised losses) provides users of financial statements with relevant information.~~ We recommend that the IASB require prospective transition for all items.

In general, EFRAG observes that the simplification principle is only selectively applied for some of the proposed solutions (e.g., for the full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with associates and joint ventures) but not for other proposals (e.g., the layered approach of accounting for acquired ownership interests while retaining significant influence).

Finally, in response to Question 11 (Other comments), EFRAG notes the circularity in wording and suggests improvements for the description of the scope of the project contained in Paragraph 2 of proposes drafting refinements on the ED. We also highlight the inadequacy in the definition proposed Scope and some of the equity method in Appendix A. Finally, definitions. EFRAG also recommends that the principles in the Basis for Conclusions (i.e., principles outlined in Table 2, paragraphs BC 15 and 16) should be updated and integrated into the description of the revised IAS 28 requirements.

EFRAG's detailed comments and responses to the questions in the ED are set out in the Appendix.

If you would like to discuss our comments further, please do not hesitate to contact Aleksandra Sivash, Vincent Papa, or me.

Yours sincerely,

Wolf Klinz

President of the EFRAG FRB

Appendix - EFRAG's responses to the questions raised in the ED

Question 1 – Measurement of cost of an associate

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

Measurement of the cost of an associate on obtaining significant influence

1 IAS 28 currently require an investor or joint venturer that obtains significant influence in an associate or joint venture to account for the difference between the cost of the investment and its share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities as goodwill or bargain purchase. However, IAS 28 does not specify how to measure the cost of the investment, resulting in diversity in practice. Therefore, the IASB decided to propose requiring that:

- a) the cost of an associate or joint venture, upon obtaining significant influence, be measured at fair value of the consideration transferred, including the fair value of any previously held interest in the associate or joint venture.
- b) contingent consideration be recognised as part of the consideration transferred and measured at fair value. After initial recognition:
 - (i) contingent consideration classified as equity should not be measured;
 - (ii) other contingent consideration should be measured at fair value at each reporting date, with changes recognised in profit or loss.

2 These amendments aim to ensure consistency with IFRS 3 Business Combinations principles on business combinations. The requirement to measure the cost of an investment at fair value of the consideration transferred, including the fair value of any previously held ownership interest is based on the considerations that:

- a) obtaining significant influence changes both the relationship between the investor and the investee, and the accounting method used by the investor;
- b) measuring the cost of the investment at fair value would align with measurement at fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities;
- c) measuring previously held interest at fair value would not be overly costly for entities because the previously held interest would have been measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Contingent considerations:

3 The IASB proposes that, on obtaining an investment in an associate or joint venture or purchasing an additional interest, the investor or joint venturer should recognise contingent

consideration as part of the consideration transferred and measure it at fair value. The IASB further proposes that contingent consideration classified as equity should not be measured after initial recognition, and any settlement of this consideration should be recorded within equity. For contingent consideration classified as a liability, the IASB recommends that it be measured at fair value at each reporting date, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

- 4 In reaching this decision, the IASB considered that the proposed requirements would be similar to those in IFRS 3 for contingent consideration on the acquisition of a subsidiary. Further, the IASB understands that this approach is already commonly applied in practice when accounting for contingent consideration on the initial recognition of an investment in an associate or the purchase of an additional interest. Therefore, IASB thinks that in most cases, the new requirements are not expected to impose significant additional costs on preparers.

Recognition of Deferred Taxes

- 5 IAS 28 requires an investor or joint venturer to determine its share of the net fair value of the associate's or joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities, which includes adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities as reported in the associate's financial statements (referred to as 'fair value adjustments'). An application question arises about whether the investor or joint venturer is required to include the deferred tax effects related to those fair value adjustments in the carrying amount of an investment in an associate on initial recognition of the investment. The IASB understands that various approaches are applied in practice. The most common practice is to include those deferred tax effects in the carrying amount of the investment.
- 6 The IASB decided to propose requiring an investor or joint venturer to include in the carrying amount of its investment the deferred tax effects related to measuring its share of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities at fair value both at obtaining significant influence and when purchasing additional ownership interest. In reaching this decision, the IASB considered that the proposed approach would:
- a) be consistent with concepts underlying the procedures used in accounting for the acquisition of a subsidiary as outlined in IFRS 3;
 - b) provide faithful representation of the financial effects related to future tax consequences;

- c) *provide useful information to users, for example, when the adjustments to the investor's or joint venturer's share of the associate's or joint venture's profit or loss in subsequent reporting periods would include both the reversal of fair value adjustments and the reversal of related deferred tax effects.*

7 *The IASB acknowledged that applying the proposed approach would result in some costs and complexity for preparers, but took the view that the benefits to users of the proposed approach would outweigh the costs to preparers.*

Question 1- Measurement of cost of associate or joint venture

Paragraph 32 of IAS 28 requires an investor that obtains significant influence to account for the difference between the cost of the investment and the investor's share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities either as goodwill (included in the carrying amount of the investment) or as a gain from a bargain purchase (recognised in profit or loss). However, IAS 28 does not include requirements for how an investor measures the cost of the investment on obtaining significant influence—for example:

- (a) whether to measure any previously held ownership interest in the associate at fair value; or
- (b) whether and if so how to recognise and measure contingent consideration.

The IASB is proposing an investor:

- (a) measure the cost of an associate, on obtaining significant influence, at the fair value of the consideration transferred, including the fair value of any previously held interest in the associate.
- (b) recognise contingent consideration as part of the consideration transferred and measure it at fair value. Thereafter:
 - (i) not remeasure contingent consideration classified as an equity instrument; and
 - (ii) measure other contingent consideration at fair value at each reporting date and recognise changes in fair value in profit or loss.

Paragraphs BC17–BC18 and BC89–BC93 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB's rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG's response to Question 1- Measurement of cost of the associate or joint venture

General comments

8 EFRAG acknowledges that the primary focus of the ED is to address existing application challenges, reduce the existing diversity in practice in the application of IAS 28 requirements, enhance the understandability of these requirements, and increase the comparability of reported information. The feedback we have received so far indicates that, overall, stakeholders consider the ED's proposals will help to reduce existing diversity in practice as intended and is a positive step.

~~9 Based on the feedback received, EFRAG supports the ED's proposals for the measurement of the cost of an investment (associate or joint venture), i.e., the fair value of consideration transferred including the fair value of previously held interest and the fair value of the contingent consideration. The proposed measurement is already widely applied in practice and is conceptually consistent with accounting for business combinations by an acquirer when obtaining control of an acquiree under IFRS 3 Business Combinations. At the same time, as addressed in our response to the specific aspect of the proposals, there are several challenges (e.g., the possibly confusing definition of cost), areas that need clarification (e.g., the definition of contingent consideration), suggestions for unaddressed elements (e.g., the inclusion of transaction costs in carrying amount of the investment), and aspects that need further outreach to constituents (e.g., assessing current practices in the treatment of deferred taxes).~~

~~*The need for coherence and a more explicit articulation of the underlying conceptual principles (below comments are pertinent to Questions 1 to 6)*~~

~~119~~ EFRAG is cognisant that the ED is not focused on fundamentally revising the equity method nor is it focused on clarifying whether the equity method is either a measurement approach or one-line consolidation. EFRAG understands that a more fundamental review would likely lengthen the project duration and defer the resolution of current application challenges. We also acknowledge that Table 2 and BC 15 to 16 in the Basis for Conclusions delineate the principles (i.e., principles A to H) underlying the classification, boundary of the reporting entity, initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition requirements of IAS 28. These principles taken in conjunction with other IFRS Accounting Standards (e.g., IFRS 3) and the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) have informed the proposals in the ED.

~~1210 At the same time, as we outline in our responses to Questions 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6; it is not always clear whether and why, in the ED's proposals, there is an implicit assumption of the equity method being a consolidation approach or measurement method or both. We~~

~~acknowledge~~ EFRAG also ~~acknowledges~~ that, as evaluated in the 2014 EFRAG Short Discussion Series paper¹ (SDS)) and other National Standard Setters² publications, instead of having mutually exclusive underpinnings, depending on the nature of the transaction or event, **the equity method can be a hybrid approach**. That is, it can encompass the features of a consolidation approach (e.g. goodwill recognition occurs on acquisition of ownership interests, bargain purchase gains are recognised in profit and loss, the elimination of investor's or joint venturer's share of profits and losses from upstream and downstream transactions) as well as have the features of a measurement basis (e.g. including transaction cost in carrying amount, the non-recognition of losses in excess of carrying value in most circumstances, and not restricting gains or losses on upstream and downstream transactions with investees).

~~13 — EFRAG acknowledges that, as evident in constituents' feedback to the 2014 EFRAG Short Discussion Series paper on the equity method, there is unlikely to be a straightforward answer to the fundamental question of what the purpose and primary feature of the equity method is. Nonetheless, the inconsistent units of account (see responses to Questions 2-6 and treatment of deferred tax in the measurement of cost of investment), the emphasis on simplification that is only selectively done towards some proposed solutions (e.g., for the full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with associates and joint ventures), and the variation in the implicit conceptual premise and principles related to the equity method across the ED's proposals, accentuates the need for the IASB to be always explicit about the underpinning conceptual assumptions of the ED's proposals. In other words, to be explicit and clearer than is currently the case about the assumptions about the nature of the equity method that is behind the choices of each of the solutions put forward to address the identified practical application challenges. That is, for each proposed solution to an application challenge, explain whether or not the IASB has accorded primacy to the equity method as either a consolidation approach or measurement method. In cases where the equity method is assumed to be a consolidation approach, it should also be clear whether it is from a proprietary or entity concept perspective.~~

~~14 — Overall, there remains the need for the IASB to ultimately address the fundamental question of what the equity method is, and whether it is still a useful approach to apply in~~

¹ 2014 EFRAG Short Discussion Series – [The Equity Method: A measurement basis or one-line consolidation?](#)

² Korean Accounting Standards Board – [Research Report No 35 The Equity Method](#)

~~accounting for investments where the investor/reporting has significant influence (i.e., associates and joint ventures).~~

Inconsistencies in the definition of cost in ED versus other IFRS Accounting Standards

~~1511~~ The definition of cost³ in Appendix A of the ED is similar to that under IFRS 3 but not exactly the same as the definition of cost⁴ in other IFRS Accounting Standards (IAS 16.6, IAS 38.8, and IAS 40.5). [As a cross-cutting concern](#), some stakeholders have highlighted that the different definitions of cost across [some IFRS Accounting Standards](#) [and the absence of its definition in other Standards](#) may lead to confusion: [on what ought to be included in a\) what is explicitly labelled as the cost amount; and b\) measurements deemed to be part of the notion of cost-based measurement including the equity method \(see our response to Question 6 on separate financial statements\)](#). In this regard, EFRAG notes that, in the feedback⁵ to the Discussion Paper⁶ *Accounting for Variable Consideration – A Purchaser’s Perspective*, some stakeholders similarly supported a single definition of cost across IFRS Accounting Standards to enable consistent interpretation. However, there was also an argument put forward by other stakeholders against the same definition, i.e., it might not result in the most relevant reported information. [Hence, EFRAG acknowledges there is unlikely to be a definition of cost applicable across IFRS Accounting Standards and therefore the Appendix A definition of cost should be enhanced to clarify its interaction with cost defined or notions of cost applied in other IFRS Accounting Standards \(see our response to Question 6 on separate financial statements\)](#).

Specific comments on ED proposals for measurement of the cost of associate or joint venture

Measurement of previously held ownership interest on obtaining significant influence

~~1612~~ EFRAG supports the proposed measurement of the previously held ownership interest at fair value. This proposal is unlikely to be too costly for entities to apply because before

³ Appendix A defines Cost of associate or joint venture as “Fair value of the consideration transferred, including the fair value of any previously held ownership interest (or any investment retained) in the *associate or joint venture*, measured at the date an investor obtains *significant influence* or a *joint venturer* obtains *joint control*.”

⁴ Under IAS 16, IAS 38 and IAS 40, cost is defined as the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or construction, or, when applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised under the specific requirements of other IFRSs, e.g., IFRS 2 *Share-based Payment*.

⁵ EFRAG, April 2024, [Feedback Statement](#), Accounting for Variable Consideration-A Purchaser Perspective, Discussion Paper.

⁶ EFRAG, September 2022, [Accounting for Variable Consideration-A Purchaser Perspective, Discussion Paper](#).

obtaining significant influence, the previously held ownership interest would have already been measured at fair value under IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*.

~~17~~13 That said, EFRAG notes that for a previously held ownership interest in an unquoted company, the fair value measurement would only have taken place at certain points in time (e.g., at a reporting date). Therefore, additional costs to determine the fair value of previously held interest may be incurred at the time that significant influence is obtained. There may also be additional costs in cases where an updated valuation of the previously held ownership interest is necessary after the investor obtains significant influence and there is an embedded ~~control~~significant influence premium. EFRAG assumes that these incremental costs are likely to be insignificant.

~~18~~14 Some stakeholders have highlighted to EFRAG ~~about~~ the lack of clarity on the accounting for increases in ownership interests in assets rather than businesses, and whether the equity method principles including the fair value remeasurement of previously held interest on obtaining significant influence would be applicable. These stakeholders have indicated that the revision of the definition of a business under IFRS 3 led to more transactions (e.g., exploration or an operating license held through an investee) being classified as asset acquisitions rather than business acquisitions and this type of asset acquisition transactions are widespread in certain industries. Therefore, EFRAG recommends the IASB clarify or address in a different project, the accounting for increases in ownership interests in assets including ownership interests in non-financial assets.

Transaction costs

~~19~~15 The ED is silent and does not specify how an investor or joint venturer should account for the transaction costs incurred in acquiring ownership interests. Accordingly, it is unclear whether or not the principles of IFRS 3 should be analogised⁷ to determine the appropriate treatment of the transaction costs. In this regard, EFRAG observes that the chosen treatment of transaction costs may depend on whether the equity method is deemed to

⁷ In accordance with IFRS 3, the acquisition related costs are not part of the exchange transaction between the acquirer and the acquiree (or its former owners), they are not considered part of the business combination. Therefore, as clarified by May 2009 IFRIC update: "except for certain specific costs, IFRS 3 requires an entity to account for acquisition related costs as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received". However, in accordance with July 2009 IFRIC update, paragraph 23 of IASB's agenda paper 13a from October 2023 notes "in contrast, the cost of an equity-accounted investment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure necessary to obtain it".

be akin to a consolidation approach as done under IFRS 3 (and then costs would be expensed as incurred) or to be a measurement method (where costs would be included in the carrying amount). Based on the feedback received so far, [and consistent with the July 2009 IFRIC update](#), EFRAG recommends that the transaction costs should be included in the carrying amount of the investment. We have also posed a question seeking constituents' views on the appropriate treatment of transaction costs.

[2016](#) Our response to Question 6 also touches on unaddressed questions related to transaction costs under separate financial statements.

Contingent consideration

[2117](#) ~~While~~ EFRAG supports the proposed initial and subsequent measurement of contingent consideration at fair value as this is similar to the approach applied under IFRS 3, ~~it is noted that the definition of contingent consideration in IFRS 3 is specific to business combinations involving control.~~ To avoid ambiguity and ensure consistent application of the requirements, EFRAG suggests that the IASB either broaden the definition of contingent consideration to include situations where significant influence is obtained without control or provide additional guidance in IAS 28 to align its requirements with those of IFRS 3.

[2218](#) EFRAG also suggests that the IASB clarifies whether a 12-month window to revise contingent consideration ~~and adjust the amount of goodwill~~, as permitted under IFRS 3, will be allowed in the context of IAS 28.

Recognition of goodwill and bargain purchase gains

[2319](#) ~~Though EFRAG supports~~ Stakeholders have expressed mixed views on the ED's proposed proposals for the recognition of goodwill or bargain purchase gains ~~gain for the equity-method-accounted investments, we are aware of mixed views among stakeholders on this ED proposal.~~ While several stakeholders support this aspect of the ED's proposals, other stakeholders including some users question the relevance of recognising goodwill in the context of equity-accounted investments where only significant influence but not control is obtained. These stakeholders argue that goodwill is more meaningful in the context of the consolidation of businesses and where the reporting entity has control over the investee subsidiary. Moreover, for these stakeholders, it is not always clear that, as is the case for goodwill recognised in the context of business combinations, the equity-method-derived goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not separately presented as an identifiable asset.

2420 Hence, for the benefit of users, EFRAG suggests the amendments should include disclosures that help users identify the goodwill and bargain purchase gains derived from acquisitions of ownership interests that are accounted for under the equity method.

2521 *Offsetting bargain purchases against goodwill*: EFRAG notes that, ~~as stated in paragraph 10 above~~, the recognition of goodwill and expensing of bargain purchase gains on the acquisition of ownership interests is indicative of the equity method being viewed as akin to a consolidation approach. That said, some stakeholders have expressed concern about the inconsistency in the treatment of goodwill that is recognised as an asset versus bargain purchases that are expensed. These stakeholders have argued that the economic value of the investment is better reflected if bargain purchase gains are first netted against the previously recognised goodwill.

2622 *Faithful representation of bargain purchase gains*: During EFRAG's outreach, users have also emphasised the need for checks and transparency on the recognition of bargain purchase gains as such gains may be a reflection of an entity's structuring activities. Hence, EFRAG suggests that the ED's proposals for the recognition of bargain purchase gains should have similar safeguards to those included in the related IFRS 3 requirements⁸. In addition, in our response to Question 7, we recommend disclosures that inform users about bargain purchase gains.

Deferred tax effects

2723 EFRAG has gotten mixed views from stakeholders on the inclusion of deferred tax effects arising from the fair value adjustments of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities in the carrying amount of the investment. Some stakeholders support this inclusion, noting its alignment with IFRS 3 principles, where deferred taxes arising from fair value adjustments are included in the purchase price allocation (PPA). This approach ensures consistency in accounting for deferred taxes when significant influence is obtained.

2824 However, some stakeholders have raised concerns about the relevance and rationale for including deferred tax effects in the carrying amount of the investment in the context of applying the equity method. These stakeholders consider the unit of account for an

⁸ Paragraph 36 of IFRS 3 requires that "before recognising a gain on a bargain purchase, the acquirer shall reassess whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and shall recognise any additional assets or liabilities that are identified in that review. The acquirer shall then review the procedures used to measure the amounts..."

associate to be the investment as a whole (IAS 28.10) and therefore that the deferred tax and IAS 12 ought to only apply on acquisition if the tax base and the cost of investment differ (i.e. as defined by paragraph 5 of IAS 12). As per this view, there should not be any deferred tax recognition arising from the purchase price allocation (PPA) allocation on obtaining significant influence. Moreover, it could be argued that, unlike the assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, which are recognised in an entity's consolidated financial statements, the individual assets and liabilities of an associate are not recognised in the investor's financial statements. Therefore, an entity does not identify temporary differences arising from the fair value adjustments of the associate's assets and liabilities.

2925 Stakeholders have also raised practical challenges, including difficulties in obtaining the necessary information to calculate deferred taxes due to limited data availability from associates and joint ventures in different tax jurisdictions upon the initial recognition and throughout the life of an investment when the deferred taxes are reversed. Other stakeholders have questioned the appropriateness of applying the proposals when the associate or joint venture does not meet the definition of a business.

3026 Due to the mixed views expressed by stakeholders on this matter, via a question to constituents, EFRAG is seeking views on the current practices in the treatment of deferred tax effects.

Question to constituents

- 1.1 Should transaction costs incurred during the acquisition of an associate or joint venture be included in the cost of the investment and capitalised, or expensed as incurred? Please provide reasons for your preference and describe any practical implications.
- 1.2 Based on your experience, is the proposed treatment of including deferred tax effects in the carrying amount of the investment as described in paragraph 23 common in practice? Please elaborate.
- 1.3 As described in paragraphs 22 to 25, EFRAG has so far gotten mixed views on the proposed inclusion of deferred tax effects in the carrying amount of investment. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed inclusion of deferred tax effects in the carrying amount of all equity-method accounted investments? Please explain

Question 2 – Changes in an investor’s ownership interest while retaining significant influence

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~3127~~ IAS 28 does not specify how an investor or joint venturer is required to account for the purchase of an additional interest, for the disposal of a portion of its investment or for other changes of its ownership interest in an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence, leading to diversity in practice.

Purchase of an additional ownership interest

~~3228~~ The IASB decided to propose requiring the investor or joint venturer, at the date of purchase:

- a) to recognise that additional ownership interest and measure it at the fair value of the consideration transferred;
- b) to include in the carrying amount of that additional ownership interest the investor’s or joint venturer’s share of the fair value of the associate’s or joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities; and
- c) to account for any difference between (a) and (b) either as goodwill included as part of the carrying amount of the investment or as a gain from a bargain purchase in profit or loss.

~~3329~~ The IASB decided to use an approach that would result in the investor or joint venturer measuring its additional interests in an associate or joint venture after obtaining significant influence as an accumulation of purchases, so the investor or joint venturer would not remeasure the carrying amount of its previously held interest in its associate or joint venture, because:

- a) in this circumstance, the purchase of an additional interest would not change the relationship between an investor and an investee, or the accounting method an investor applies;
- b) the proposed approach is consistent with the requirements in IFRS 11 where a joint operator purchasing an additional interest in a joint operation does not remeasure its previously held interest;
- c) remeasuring the previously held interest when purchasing an additional interest would result in intermittent revaluation of an investment which would not provide useful information to users.

3430 In requiring including in the carrying amount of the additional ownership interest the investor's or joint venturer's share of the fair value of the associate's or joint venture's net assets, the IASB considered that:

- a) measuring the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities at fair value provides relevant information;
- b) the proposed approach is consistent with the requirements of IFRS 11 when an entity acquires an interest in a joint operation which is a business (IFRS 11 requires to apply the principles of IFRS 3 that do not conflict with IFRS 11);
- c) any additional goodwill included in the investment would be faithfully represented because it would be measured in the same way as the initial goodwill.

3531 Since the purchase of an additional ownership interest is treated as an accumulation of purchases measured separately and does not result in a remeasurement of previously held interest, the IASB decided that it would be appropriate to treat each acquired layer as a separate unit of account and thus do not require an investor or joint venturer's to offset a bargain purchase gain against previously identified goodwill, but to recognise it in profit or loss.

Disposal of an ownership interest

3632 The IASB decided to propose requiring the investor or joint venturer at the date of the disposal:

- a) to derecognise the disposed portion of its investment in the associate or joint venture;
- b) to measure the disposed portion of its investment as a percentage of the carrying amount of the investment (that percentage is calculated as the disposed ownership interest divided by the total ownership interest); and
- c) to recognise any difference between the consideration received and the disposed portion as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

3733 When developing the proposal, the IASB considered whether the derecognition requirements should mirror the principle of accumulation of purchases outlined above. If an investment is considered as comprising multiple components, an investor or joint venturer would need to determine which layers of the investment to derecognise in a partial disposal. Possible approaches considered by the IASB included specific identification method or the use of cost formula, such as FIFO, LIFO or weighted average.

3834 However, the IASB noted that viewing the investment as a single unit of account would be more consistent with the principles underlying IAS 28 and would:

- a) provide a more faithful representation of an investment that comprises instruments with the same economic rights, because each instrument is fungible;
- b) reflect that an investment in an associate or joint venture is usually managed as a single asset;
- c) be more understandable (for example, the measurement of the amount derecognised in a partial disposal would be easier to understand); and
- d) be less complex and, therefore, less costly for entities to apply.

Other changes in the investor's ownership interest

3935 The IASB considered the situations in which the associate or joint venture issues or redeems its shares changing the investor's or joint venturer's ownership interest with or without its participation in said issuance or redemption of shares.

4036 The IASB decided to propose requiring an investor or joint venturer that retains significant influence to:

- a) recognise an increase in its ownership interest, as if purchasing an additional ownership interest; and
- b) recognise a decrease in its ownership interest, as if disposing of an ownership interest.

4137 In reaching this decision, the IASB considered paragraph 1.12 of the Conceptual Framework stating that general purpose financial statements provide information about the effects of transactions and other events that change a reporting entity's economic resources and claims. In IASB's view, changes to an investor's or joint venturer's ownership interest is an event that changes the investor's or joint venturer's economic resources. Further, the proposed approach would be consistent with the definition of the equity method, which states that the investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the investor's or joint venturer's share of the investee's net assets.

4238 The IASB also considered whether to require an investor or joint venturer to present the gain or loss associated with a dilution in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income, noting that in principle all items of income and expense are to be presented in the statement of profit or loss and that the IASB did not identify any reason to require an investor or joint

venturer to present the dilution gain or loss in other comprehensive income instead of in profit or loss.

4339 As outlined in paragraphs BC45 and BC46 of the Basis for Conclusions, the IASB decided not to address application questions related to equity-settled share-based payments and share warrants because “in practice, there are many types of transactions in which entities issue potentially dilutive instruments”. The IASB considered that developing requirements to address such transactions when applying the equity method would have been time-consuming and would probably delay the project considerably. Therefore, in the IASB’s view, the costs of developing requirements to address these transactions when applying the equity method were likely to outweigh the benefits, as such transactions typically do not have a pervasive or significant effect for investors or joint venturers.

Question 2- Change in ownership

IAS 28 does not include requirements on how an investor accounts for changes in its ownership interest in an associate while retaining significant influence, that arise from:

- (a) the purchase of an additional ownership interest in the associate;
- (b) the disposal of an ownership interest (partial disposal) in the associate; or
- (c) other changes in the investor’s ownership interest in the associate.

The IASB is proposing to require that an investor:

- (a) at the date of purchasing an additional ownership interest in an associate:
 - (i) recognise that additional ownership interest and measure it at the fair value of the consideration transferred;
 - (ii) include in the carrying amount the investor’s additional share of the fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities; and
 - (iii) account for any difference between (i) and (ii) either as goodwill included as part of the carrying amount of the investment or as a gain from a bargain purchase in profit or loss.
- (b) at the date of disposing of an ownership interest:
 - (i) derecognise the disposed portion of its investment in the associate measured as a percentage of the carrying amount of the investment; and

(ii) recognise any difference between the consideration received and the amount of the disposed portion as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

(c) for other changes in its ownership interest in an associate:

(i) recognise an increase in its ownership interest, as if purchasing an additional ownership interest. In (a)(i), 'the fair value of the consideration transferred' shall be read as 'the investor's share of the change in its associate's net assets arising from the associate's redemption of equity instruments'.

(ii) recognise a decrease in its ownership interest, as if disposing of an ownership interest. In (b)(ii) 'the consideration received' shall be read as 'the investor's share of the change in its associate's net assets arising from the associate's issue of equity instruments'.

Paragraphs BC20–BC44 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB's rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG's response to Question 2- Change of ownership

General comments

Inconsistencies in units of account

4440 Paragraphs BC34 and BC35 of the Basis for Conclusions outline that the IASB considered treating the investment as a single unit of account would be more consistent with the principles underlying IAS 28 (summarised in Principles B and E in Table 2 of the Basis for Conclusions). Moreover, it would provide a more faithful representation of the underlying economic substance due to the fungibility of the investment, and it would also be more understandable, and less complex and costly to apply. EFRAG agrees with this reasoning.

4541 However, ~~the unit~~ EFRAG notes that different units of account ~~is not consistently applied~~ are used across ~~the ED's~~ proposals for the treatment of additional purchases versus disposals of ownership interests while retaining significant influence ~~as well as for~~. EFRAG questions whether the ~~recognition use~~ of goodwill versus bargain purchases. EFRAG is concerned that ~~an inconsistent application of the unit of~~ different units of account across ~~the ED's proposals in this context~~ may distort the representation of the economics of the investment. ~~Moreover, while the Conceptual Framework allows for different units of~~

~~accounts for recognition and measurement, it does not do so for recognition and derecognition.~~

~~46 Overall, the IASB should provide a more robust conceptual justification than is currently the case when it chooses to apply different units of account for interrelated recognition (while acquiring) and derecognition (while disposing) of ownership interests while retaining significant influence.~~

Inconsistencies in the underpinning conceptual premise of the equity method

~~47 Similar to the general comments in Question 1, EFRAG notes the inconsistency and fluctuation between considering the equity method as a *de facto* consolidation approach (i.e., conducting purchase price allocations for acquisitions while retaining significant influence) and a *de facto* measurement method (i.e., for disposals that are seen as part of a single unit of account while retaining significant influence). However, some stakeholders have also observed that the proposed layered approach toward changes in the non-controlling albeit significant influence ownership interest is inconsistent with consolidation requirements for additions to non-controlling interests.~~

Specific comments on ED proposals

Purchase of additional interest while retaining significant influence

4842 EFRAG agrees with the ED's proposal of treating each additional acquired ownership interest while retaining significant influence as a separate unit of account and not requiring the remeasurement of the carrying amount of its previously held interest in an associate or joint venture when purchasing an additional interest while retaining significant influence. As outlined in paragraph BC23 of the Basis for Conclusions, this proposal is conceptually justified and is often applied in practice. During the discussions with EFRAG's stakeholders that occurred when the ED's proposals were being developed, both preparers and users disagreed with an alternative approach explored and discarded by the IASB entailing the remeasurement of the carrying amount of previously held interest at fair value when an additional ownership interest is purchased. Stakeholders deemed that that such an approach would lead to inconsistent and incomparable reporting (i.e., fair value remeasurement of previously held ownership interests only being done by those entities that acquire additional ownership interests while retaining significant influence) and this could lead to opportunistic acquisitions and earnings management.

4943 However, EFRAG highlights significant concerns expressed by stakeholders including preparers about the ED's proposals for the measurement of additional purchased ownership interest. Under the proposed requirements, at acquisition, each additional layer

is treated as a separate unit of account, and the investor's or joint venturer's additional share of the associate's or joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. [and a purchase price allocation-PPA performed \(this accounting treatment is also referred to as the layered approach in this letter\)](#). This proposal would result in significant cost and complexity for preparers. For example, getting access to the investee's internal information (i.e. business plans, cash flow projections, customer relationship data...) [and obtaining the fair value of net assets of the associate or joint venture at the date of each acquisition of additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence](#) would be challenging for many investor/reporting entities. Inter alia, preparers would expend considerable efforts performing the purchase price allocation exercise and they will also incur additional audit costs.

~~5044~~ Moreover, EFRAG notes that with the cost of each additional layer of ownership interest being measured at a different underlying fair value of the associate's or joint venture's assets and liabilities, there will be significant complexity in applying the equity method on an on-going basis. For example, IAS 28 requires that the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and net assets taken into account for the equity method should be determined after adjustments are made for uniform accounting policies. [\(i.e., if there are changes in the fair value of the net assets of the same underlying associate or joint venture being considered for different acquired layers, it may be cumbersome for preparers to ascertain and reflect the necessary adjustments in the mentioned fair value of the net assets of the associate or joint venture\)](#). [Of note](#), many preparers have indicated that such adjustments would need to be considered for each individual layer of ownership interest, and this would necessitate multiple ledgers to account for the different layers of ownership interest held through a reporting entity's holding period of an investment. [Hence, EFRAG suggests that the IASB further assess the cost/benefit balance of this proposal.](#)

~~5145~~ [In addition, as ~~Therefore~~, EFRAG does not support the fair value remeasurement of recommends that while retaining the concept of the layered approach \(i.e., treating each acquisition of ownership interest as a separate unit of account and not remeasuring previously held ownership interest when an investor acquires additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence, we recommend\)](#), the IASB [should further assess the cost/benefit balance of the proposed version of the layered approach considering stakeholders' cost and complexity concerns. In addition, the IASB should explore simplified alternative approaches of measurement for this situation.](#) For example, some stakeholders have suggested the following two alternatives:

- a) *Alternative 1 (Using PPA-related information that was applied while obtaining significant influence)*: Under this approach, instead of continually gathering updated information from the associate or joint venture in order to perform a PPA, the ~~investor's share of the~~ fair value of assets and liabilities of the investee (associate or joint venture) that was identified when the investor obtained significant influence can be ~~adjusted~~ used as a basis of estimating the revised fair value of the net assets of investee at date of acquisition of additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence. For instance, it can be adjusted to reflect the proportion of the additional ownership interest acquired and with a premium or discount applied for changes in the economic prospects of the associate or joint venture since the investor obtained significant influence. This suggested subsequent adjustment of the fair value of the net assets of the investee at the time significant influence was obtained requires judgment and a reasonable estimation basis, ~~and may be restricted (for example, with a requirement to update the PPA after a certain period)~~. This alternative PPA-determination approach will reduce the mentioned cost and burden concerns; or
- b) *Alternative 2 – No PPA approach*: Under this approach, the fair value of the consideration transferred is assumed to be a proxy for the investor's share of the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the associate or joint venture related to the acquired additional interest. In this case, a PPA (with the accompanying recognition of either goodwill in investee carrying amount or bargain purchase gains in profit or loss) is unnecessary. This is because it is assumed that the investor's share of the fair value of net assets related to the acquired additional ownership interest would be equal to the fair value of the consideration transferred by the investor.

5246 EFRAG has ~~has~~ included a question to constituents to gather views on Alternatives 1 and 2 and any other potential alternatives for the measurement of additional ownership interests acquired while retaining significant influence.

Disposing of an ownership interest while retaining significant influence

5347 EFRAG supports the ED's proposal to measure the disposed portion of its investment as a percentage of the carrying amount of the investment. EFRAG acknowledges that when taking the decision, the IASB viewed the proposed approach for accounting for disposals of ownership interests to be more understandable and less complex and EFRAG agrees with this statement.

5448 However, EFRAG also notes that there might be situations where an entity would be able to specifically identify which shares of its investment it disposes of, for example, if the shares were acquired by different legal entities within the group. EFRAG suggests that in cases, where such specific identification is possible, an entity should be allowed to derecognise those specific shares as this could more faithfully represent the economic consequences of the disposal and be less complex compared to derecognising a portion of investments detained by other entities within a group.

49 [Stakeholders have noted an example of where the specific identification would be appropriate. Specifically, this would be the case if individual entities A, B and C are part of a consolidated group ABC and each of these individual entities obtains a proportion of ownership interest in entity X and, in the ABC consolidated financial statements, investee X is accounted for using the equity method. Specific identification may also be appropriate in cases where ownership interests in the associate or joint venture are related to different classes of ordinary shares.](#)

Other changes in ownership interest while retaining significant influence

5550 EFRAG is aware that some stakeholders are concerned with the ED's proposal for other changes in ownership that occur in the absence of an exchange transaction (e.g. an associate's or joint venture's issuance or redemption of its shares). Under the ED's proposals, these other changes in ownership are deemed to be equivalent to either the purchase of additional or disposal of existing ownership interest while retaining significant influence.

5651 Stakeholders are concerned about applying the ED's proposals in the absence of an exchange transaction between the investor and the associate or joint venture. They consider the change of ownership interest (via dilution or anti-dilution of the proportion of the investor's holdings) to be a 'mechanical' adjustment that will be costly for entities whose associates or joint ventures have high volumes of share buybacks.

5752 In addition, some stakeholders noted that it was not clear from the ED if an investor or joint venturer needs to consider only the changes at the level of its direct associate or joint venture or also the changes that its associate or joint venture may have within their group. Similarly, stakeholders questioned if the ED's proposals are to be also applied towards other types of events like the issuance of hybrid instruments that may impact the expected dividends but not the investor's ownership interests including voting rights.

5853 EFRAG notes that as stated in BC 46 in the Basis for Conclusions, due to the associated complexity, the IASB did not develop proposals for a change of ownership arising from

equity-settled share-based payments and share warrants. Moreover, as noted earlier, applying the ED's layered approach for acquired ownership interest is complex and costly and extending this approach to deemed purchases lessens the overall suitability of the proposed amendments.

5954 Hence, EFRAG recommends that unless the IASB can develop a holistic principle-based approach that encompasses all non-exchange transactions and events within an associate or joint venture that will result in the change of the investor's/reporting entity's ownership interest and/or impacts its claims to the resources of its associates or joint ventures; then all such transactions and events should be scoped out of the proposed amendments to IAS 28.

Question to constituents

2.1. Paragraph 46 lays out alternatives to the ED's proposal for accounting for purchases of additional ownership interest. Considering the complexity and cost, do you agree with the suggested alternative measurement methods when accounting for purchases of an additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence?

Question 3 – Recognition of the investor's share of losses

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

Losses not recognised and purchase of an additional interest

6055 IAS 28 does not specify if an investor or joint venturer that has reduced its investment in an associate or joint venture to nil is required to 'catch up' unrecognised losses if it purchases an additional interest in an associate or joint venture. The IASB decided to propose that an investor or joint venturer would not deduct its share of any losses not recognised from the cost of the additional ownership interest. In reaching its decision, the IASB considered that this approach would be consistent with its proposed approach to the purchase of an additional ownership interest measured as an accumulation of purchases, each independent of another. An investor or joint venturer would, therefore, not remeasure the previously held interest in an associate or joint venture when recognising the additional interest. In the IASB's view, requiring an investor or joint venturer to deduct any losses not recognised relating to the previously held interest from the cost of an additional interest would be inconsistent with its proposed approach to the purchase of the additional interest.

~~6156~~ Further, in IASB's view, this approach would faithfully represent the purchase of the additional interest, because deducting the investor's or joint venturer's share of losses not recognised from the cost of the additional investment could imply that the investment is impaired. However, the IASB noted that the presence of unrecognised losses does not necessarily mean the investment is impaired. If an impairment exists, an investor or joint venturer would be required to apply the requirements in IAS 28 and IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. Recognition of an impairment loss immediately following the recognition of a purchase of an additional interest in the associate or joint ventures would provide relevant information to users of the investor's or joint venturer's financial statements. That information might include, for example, an explanation of the investor's or joint venturer's rationale for investing additional funds in the associate or joint venture.

Recognition of each component of comprehensive income

~~6257~~ IFRS 18 (and its predecessor, IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements) requires an investor or joint venturer to present:

- a) its share of the profit or loss from associates or joint ventures accounted for using the equity method in the statement of profit or loss; and
- b) its share of other comprehensive income of associates or joint ventures accounted for using the equity method in other comprehensive income.

~~6358~~ An associate or joint venture might report a loss in its statement of profit or loss and a loss in its other comprehensive income. If the investor's or joint venturer's share of those losses, in total, exceeds the carrying amount of its investment, an application question arises about the amount of losses it should recognise in profit or loss and in other comprehensive income. Various approaches are applied in practice. For example, an investor or joint venturer might recognise its share of the associate's or joint venture's total losses in profit or loss and other comprehensive income proportionately—or it might first recognise the full amount of its share of the associate's or joint venture's loss in profit or loss and then recognise the remaining balance of its share of the associate's or joint venture's total losses in other comprehensive income.

~~6459~~ Another application question arises once the investor or joint venturer has reduced the carrying amount of its investment to nil and an associate or joint venture subsequently reports a loss in its statement of profit or loss and income in its other comprehensive income (or vice versa). In this situation, the question arises as to whether the investor or joint venturer should recognise any amounts for its share of the associate's or joint venture's loss (or profit) and other comprehensive income.

~~6560~~ The IASB decided to propose requiring an investor or joint venturer to recognise its share of an associate's or joint venture's total comprehensive income (which, therefore, would include a loss reported in an associate's or joint venture's other comprehensive income) until the investor's or joint venturer's investment in the associate or joint venture is reduced to nil.

~~6661~~ The IASB also decided to propose requiring the investor or joint venturer to recognise separately its share of the associate's or joint venture's profit or loss and its share of the associate's or joint venture's other comprehensive income. Furthermore:

- a) if the investor's or joint venturer's share of profit or loss and its share of other comprehensive income are both losses that in aggregate equal or exceed its net investment in the associate or joint venture, an investor or joint venturer would first recognise its share of profit or loss and then its share of other comprehensive income.
- b) after an investor or joint venturer has reduced its investment to nil, it would continue to recognise separately its share of profit or loss and its share of other comprehensive income. For example, if an investor's share of profit or loss is a loss of CU250 and its share of other comprehensive income is a profit of CU100, the investor would recognise a loss of CU100 in profit or loss and a profit of CU100 in other comprehensive income. The carrying amount of the investor's investment would remain at nil.

~~6762~~ The IASB decided not to develop proposed answers for other related application questions, such as the order of recognising profits in profit or loss and in other comprehensive income when an investor or joint venturer resumes recognising its share of the associate's or joint venture's profits. Those questions do not commonly arise in practice and, therefore, were not on the list of application questions selected for the project.

Question 3- Recognition of investor's share of losses

Paragraph 38 of IAS 28 requires that if an investor's share of losses equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the investor discontinues recognising its share of further losses. However, IAS 28 does not include requirements on whether an investor that has reduced the carrying amount of its investment in an associate to nil:

- (a) on purchasing an additional ownership interest, recognises any losses not recognised as a 'catch up' adjustment by deducting those losses from the cost of the additional ownership interest; or

(b) recognises separately its share of each component of the associate's comprehensive income.

The IASB is proposing an investor:

(a) on purchasing an additional ownership interest, not recognise its share of an associate's losses that it has not recognised by reducing the carrying amount of the additional ownership interest.

(b) recognise and present separately its share of the associate's profit or loss and its share of the associate's other comprehensive income.

Paragraphs BC47–BC62 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB's rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG's response to Question 3: Recognition of investor's share of losses

Losses not recognised and purchase of an additional interest

~~6863~~ EFRAG acknowledges and does not disagree with the reasons underpinning the ED's proposal not to offset losses of previously held ownership interest against the carrying amount of an additional ownership interest acquired (while retaining significant influence). That is, the latter is a separate and different unit of account from the former. Moreover, as noted in paragraph BC 53 of the Basis for Conclusions, the losses of an associate or joint venture are not necessarily an indicator of the impairment of the investment (e.g., it could be a tech start-up facing early-stage startup losses but albeit having rosy long-term prospects).

~~6964~~ However, in line with our concerns raised in Questions 1 and 2, EFRAG considers the recognition of additional goodwill in situations where the net assets of an investee are already negative would be inappropriate. ~~As noted in Question 2, the units of account differ for acquisitions versus disposals, and for recognised goodwill versus bargain purchases. Hence,~~ Giving primacy to the application of a consistent unit of account in this instance even when it may distort the faithful representation of economic reality seems to be unjustified ~~and it reflects some inconsistency in the principles emphasised across the ED's proposals (i.e., selective emphasis on the importance of consistent unit of account).~~ Moreover, the relevance and faithful representation of reported information should be the topmost considerations for reporting requirements. Hence, **in addition to the ED**

proposals, we recommend that the IASB also limits the recognition of additional goodwill when the carrying amount of the investment is nil.

~~7065~~ Moreover, not recognising the investor's share of losses when the carrying amount of the investment is reduced to nil as proposed by the ED is aligned with the view of the equity method as a measurement basis (i.e., the entire investment is viewed as a single unit of account) rather than as a consolidation approach. The emphasis on the acquired ownership interest as a separate unit of account from previously held interest is more aligned with the view of the equity method as a consolidation approach. This seems to be another conceptual inconsistency across the ED's proposals.

~~7166~~ Finally, if the IASB proceeds with the current proposal, EFRAG suggests that IASB should explicitly state that when an entity purchases an additional ownership interest while having unrecognised losses, an entity needs to assess if this additional investment represents an implicit funding of the associate or the joint venture and is indicative that a constructive obligation has been created. If that were to be the case, the unrecognised losses need to be recognised in line with the requirement of paragraph 47 of the ED.

Recognition of each component of comprehensive income

~~7267~~ EFRAG is supportive of the ED's proposal that when an investor has reduced the carrying amount of its investment in an associate to nil, the investor shall recognise and present separately its share of the associate's profit or loss and its share of the associate's other comprehensive income. However, based on the feedback received so far, there is a need for further clarification of aspects of this proposal.

~~7368~~ Specifically, paragraph 48 of the ED states: "*subsequently, if an investor's or joint venturer's share of an associate's or joint venture's total comprehensive income is a profit, the investor or joint venturer shall resume recognising its share of that profit only when that share exceeds its share of losses not recognised.*" At the same time, paragraph 50 of the ED states: "*the investor or joint venturer shall recognise separately its share of the associate's or joint venture's profit or loss and its share of the associate's or joint venture's other comprehensive income*". Therefore, stakeholders have called for clarification on whether the investor's share of unrecognised losses are

- a) to be considered separately for the respective profit or loss and other comprehensive income portions, and the corresponding resumed recognition of share of profit in total comprehensive income (i.e., in excess of the unrecognised losses) is to then be similarly recognised separately for profit or loss and other comprehensive income; or

- b) to be considered in their entirety at the level of total comprehensive income without differentiating the amounts respectively arising from profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

7469 Further, paragraph 52 of the ED states: “an investor or joint venturer that has reduced its net investment to nil shall continue to recognise separately its share of an associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss and its share of an associate’s or joint venture’s other comprehensive income, retaining a carrying amount in the net investment of nil”. It is not clear if this requirement shall also be applied when an investor or joint venturer has an accumulation of unrecognised losses across the total comprehensive income (i.e., profit or loss amount and other comprehensive amount taken collectively). Stakeholders suggested that the example included in paragraph 52 be extended to the situations where an investor’s or joint venturer’s share of profit or loss is a profit and its share of other comprehensive income is a loss and to clarify how the application of the ED proposals considering the primacy of the statement of profit or loss.

7570 With regard to other comprehensive income, stakeholders raised their concern that the ED’s proposal does not address how and whether to allocate an investor’s or joint venturer’s share of its associate’s or joint venture’s other comprehensive income through various components of the other comprehensive income.

7671 Moreover, EFRAG is unconvinced by the IASB’s arguments expressed in paragraph BC62 of the Basis for Conclusions for being silent and not developing answers for the order of recognising profits in profit or loss and in other comprehensive income when an investor or joint venturer resumes recognising its share of the associate’s or of the joint venture’s profits. The IASB argues that these situations are rare in practice and were not in the application questions. EFRAG considers that the treatment of profit or loss versus OCI is a conceptual question that ought to be addressed by the IASB via reference to the Conceptual Framework principles and it should not be dependent on the pervasiveness of arising situations. In this sense, accounting standard setting should cater for both losses and gains in the recovery of losses and not only provide asymmetrical answers. In addition, feedback obtained by EFRAG indicates that the matter is considered significant and pervasive by many stakeholders.

7772 Finally, due to the transition requirements to apply this proposal prospectively, stakeholders have asked for the IASB to clarify how to treat accumulated unrecognised losses that were not tracked separately between profit or loss and other comprehensive income but which would be affected by the proposed retrospective application of: a) the

full recognition of gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures; and
b) the fair value measurement of contingent consideration.

Question 4 – Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~7873~~ *The IASB is proposing to change the requirements in IAS 28 and require that an investor or joint venturer recognise in full gains and losses resulting from all transactions with associates or joint ventures. This includes ‘upstream’ transactions (such as a sale of assets from an associate or joint venture to an investor or joint venturer) and ‘downstream’ transactions (such as a sale or contribution of assets from an investor or joint venturer to an associate or joint venture) including the sale of a subsidiary to its associate or joint venture resulting in the loss of control of a subsidiary.*

~~7974~~ *Currently, paragraph 28 of IAS 28 requires an investor to recognise gains and losses resulting from transactions between itself and an associate or a joint venture only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. For example, if an investor owns 25% of an associate and sells an asset to that associate, the investor recognises 75% of the gain at the date of the sale (the third parties share), and the remaining 25% over the asset’s life or when the asset is sold to third parties. This requirement in IAS 28 for partial recognition of gains and losses on a sale of a subsidiary to an associate or joint venture is different to the requirement in IFRS 10 to recognise in full the gain or loss on losing control of a subsidiary. IAS 28 does not provide specific guidance on transactions between equity-accounted investees and whether unrealised profit or losses on such transactions should be eliminated.*

~~8075~~ *The proposed amendment addresses the application questions on the accounting for transactions with associates or joint ventures that are listed in Table 1 of paragraph BC13 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED. Some of the application questions arose because of the inconsistency with IFRS 10.*

~~8176~~ *The IASB is proposing that an investor or joint venturer disclose the amount of gains or losses from ‘downstream’ transactions (sales from an investor to its associates or joint ventures). See question 7 on disclosure requirements.*

~~8277~~ *As explained in paragraph B67 of the Basis for Conclusions, in reaching its decision on transactions with associates or joint venturers the IASB considered the following alternatives:*

- c) *Alternative 1 – Apply the approach in IFRS 10 and recognise in full the gains and losses on all transactions with an associate and a joint venturer.*
- d) *Alternative 2 – Apply the approach in IFRS 10 first, and then an overlay using the approach in current IAS 28 and recognise only partial gains and losses on all transactions with an associate and a joint venture.*
- e) *Alternative 3 – Apply the approach in current IAS 28 (partial gain or loss) or IFRS 10 (full gain or loss), depending on whether the transaction involved the transfer of an output of the entity’s ordinary activities (i.e. whether this transaction is within the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or not). This approach would require partial gains or losses on transactions in the scope of IFRS 15 and full gains or losses if outside the scope of IFRS 15.*
- f) *Alternative 4 – Under this approach the investor would recognise the full gains or losses when a transaction constitutes a business and partial gains or losses when a transaction constitutes an asset.*

8378 *The IASB noted that unlike a subsidiary, an associate or a joint venture is not part of the group and is not controlled by the parent. A group’s investment in an associate or joint venture is considered more like an asset of the group. It is therefore questionable why IAS 28 restricts gains or losses and requires the elimination of the “unrealised” gain or loss. When an entity sells an item of property, plant and equipment, IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment requires the entity to recognise the full gain or loss on disposal of the asset. This is in line with Alternative 1. Alternative 2 would continue to require the recognition of partial gains and losses.*

8479 *The IASB considered that Alternatives 3 and 4 would be complex to apply as they would require judgement to determine which requirements to apply and also raised conceptual questions. For instance, the IASB notes that Alternative 4 could be perceived as inconsistent with the IASB’s views in developing IFRS 10 that the loss of control of a subsidiary is, from the group’s perspective, the loss of control over some of the group’s individual assets and liabilities. Therefore, drawing a line for different requirements between the sale of an asset and the sale of a business would be difficult to justify.*

8580 *After considering user information needs, practical application to preparers and conceptual reasoning as to why it is not conceptually justified why an investor or joint venturer should eliminate its portion of the gain or loss in a transaction with an associate or joint venture*

(as these investments are not part of the group entity), the IASB considered Alternative 1 as the best alternative.

Contribution of non-monetary assets in exchange for equity interest

8681 The IASB decided to combine paragraphs 30 and 31 of current IAS 28 into a single paragraph as proposed in paragraph 54 of the ED. The IASB did not change the existing requirements except for the effects of paragraph 53 of the ED on full recognition of gains and losses on “downstream” and “upstream transactions”. Specifically, paragraph 54 of the ED says:

- a) *If an investor or joint venturer contributes non-monetary assets to an associate or joint venture in exchange for an equity interest in that associate or joint venture, and that contribution lacks ‘commercial substance’ as described in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, the investor or joint venturer shall regard the gain or loss on that contribution as unrealised and eliminate it against the carrying amount of the investment.*
- b) *If, in addition to receiving an equity interest in the associate or joint venture, an investor or joint venturer receives monetary or non-monetary assets, the investor or joint venturer shall recognise in full in profit or loss the portion of the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution relating to the monetary and non-monetary assets received.*

Question 4- Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Paragraph 28 of IAS 28 requires an investor to recognise gains and losses resulting from transactions between itself and an associate only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. This requirement applies to both ‘downstream’ transactions (such as a sale or contribution of assets from an investor to an associate) and ‘upstream’ transactions (such as a sale of assets from an associate to an investor).

If an investor loses control of a subsidiary in a transaction with an associate, the requirement in IAS 28 to recognise only a portion of the gains or losses is inconsistent with the requirement in IFRS 10 to recognise in full the gain or loss on losing control of a subsidiary.

The IASB is proposing to require that an investor recognise in full gains and losses resulting from all ‘upstream’ and ‘downstream’ transactions with its associates, including transactions involving the loss of control of a subsidiary.

Paragraphs BC63–BC84 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB’s rationale for this proposal.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG's response to Question 4: Transactions with associates and joint ventures

General comments

8782 EFRAG welcomes the ED's proposal to address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 on the accounting for the sale/contribution of a subsidiary to its associate or joint venture. While acknowledging some stakeholders have concerns about earnings management and structuring opportunities, EFRAG supports the ED's proposal to require that an investor recognise in full gains and losses from an investor's/reporting entity's 'upstream' and 'downstream' transactions with its associates and joint ventures. The proposal is a significant change to the existing requirement in IAS 28 to recognise gains or losses to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate (for instance, an investor with a 25% ownership interest recognises 75% of gains or losses).

8883 The ED's proposal is consistent with the IFRS 10 which requires the full gain or loss to be recognised on the sale or contribution of a subsidiary (loss of control of a subsidiary). Similarly, when an entity sells an item of property, plant or equipment, IAS 16 requires the full gain or loss on disposal of the asset.

8984 Overall, though there are concerns about possible structuring opportunities, especially for joint ventures and downstream transactions that have been raised by stakeholders (as further described in paragraphs below), EFRAG considers the proposal will result in a desirable consistency in the application of the equity method for all transactions with associates or joint ventures. It is also a simplified and less costly solution compared to the other alternatives considered by the IASB that are summarised in paragraph B67 of the ED's Basis for Conclusions. Moreover, as described below and in Question 7, the required disclosures can alleviate the concerns about structuring opportunities.

~~Conceptual premise underpinning transactions with associates and joint ventures~~

~~90— EFRAG considers that, conceptually, the correct accounting treatment for transactions with associates or joint ventures depends on whether the equity method is deemed to be de facto a measurement method or a consolidation approach.~~

~~91— In this regard, as mentioned in our response to Question 1, the equity method under IAS 28 contains elements of both consolidation techniques and a measurement basis; and it is not always clear which of the two underlying conceptual approaches should be applied for a reporting entity/investor's transactions with its associates or joint ventures. That said,~~

~~distinguishing the features of these two conceptual approaches, the 2014 EFRAG Short Discussion Series paper⁹ on the equity method notes that under a consolidation approach there would be an elimination of the investor's share of gains or losses from its transactions with associates and joint ventures while under a measurement method premise, there are no restrictions in the recognition of gains or losses in upstream and downstream transactions with investees.~~

~~92 EFRAG considers the proposal to be consistent with an assumption of equity method as a measurement method rather than a consolidation approach which would incorporate consolidation elimination procedures.~~

~~93 As noted earlier, EFRAG acknowledges that the objective of the ED is not to examine the purpose and nature of the equity method, including whether it is a one-line consolidation or a measurement basis. However, EFRAG considers it will be helpful for the IASB to explicitly articulate the underlying conceptual approach for the proposed accounting for the reporting entity's/investor's transactions with associates or joint ventures.~~

Specific comments on the ED's proposal

Reasons for supporting proposed recognition of full gains or losses

9485 EFrag considers that, unlike a subsidiary, an associate or joint venture is not controlled by the parent entity and is therefore not part of the reporting boundary for consolidated financial statements under IFRS 10. EFRAG therefore agrees with the IASB's reasoning set out in paragraphs BC76 – BC80 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED that elimination of gains or losses on transactions with associates or joint ventures should not be required.

9586 From a practical perspective, EFRAG also agrees with the arguments in BC75(b) of the Basis for Conclusions that removing the current "elimination" requirement for transactions with associates or joint ventures (which are accounted for under the equity method) will reduce costs to preparers as an entity will no longer need to gather the required information to perform the elimination entries and track the unrecognised gains and losses in future periods. Currently under IAS 28, investors or joint venturers would recognise the "restricted portion of the gain or loss" when the transferred asset is sold to third parties or consumed over time. Therefore, entities need to track the restricted (unrealised) portion of the gain or loss which can be costly to do and often practical/impracticable due to lack of information.

⁹ EFRAG, 2014, EFRAG Short Discussion Series: The Equity Method: A Measurement Basis or One-Line Consolidation?

Concerns about full recognition of gains and losses for transactions with joint ventures

9687 Some stakeholders have raised a concern about requiring an entity to recognise the full gain or loss for transactions with a joint venture because such a requirement could potentially allow a joint venturer to manage its earnings and structure transactions that are not arm's length transactions and these include roundtrip transactions. This concern was acknowledged by the IASB and explained in paragraph BC111 of the Basis for Conclusions.

9788 As noted in our response to Question 7, EFRAG considers that disclosing the amount of any gains and losses on "downstream transactions" will be helpful to users of financial statements as it will help users understand the pricing of such transactions and benchmark it against market terms, whether these are undertaken at arm's length, and if there are structuring activities including roundtrip transactions occurring.

89 [Given that this proposal of the ED is a significant amendment that will result in a change in current practice, and it may elevate earnings management concerns, EFRAG notes some stakeholders have called for a stronger articulation of the principles underlying this particular ED proposal and also raised questions about the clarity and robustness of requirements for transactions that lack commercial substance \(see paragraph 91 below\).](#)

Separate financial statements

9890 As addressed in EFRAG's response to Question 6, some stakeholders have concerns with applying the proposals for subsidiaries accounted for under the equity method in the separate financial statements in respect of subsidiaries controlled by the investor/reporting entity.

Other comments

9991 *Transactions that lack commercial substance:* [Some stakeholders have expressed that there are difficulties in interpreting Paragraph 54, which combines paragraphs 30 and 31 of existing IAS 28 into a single paragraph—without changing existing requirements.](#) EFRAG understands that ~~it does not change the existing requirements.~~ Paragraph 54 is consistent with the requirements in IAS 16 on exchanges of non-monetary assets and acts as a safeguard for transactions that lack commercial substance as described in paragraph 25 of IAS 16. If a transaction lacks commercial substance, then no gain or loss is recognised on the transferred non-monetary asset. However, EFRAG notes that the accounting for gains or losses seems to depend on whether the exchange results in the entity receiving an equity interest or receiving monetary or non-monetary assets. For the sake of clarity of the requirements in paragraph 54 of the ED, EFRAG suggests the IASB provide a related illustrative example.

Question to constituents

4.1 Do you consider that the proposals to recognise full gains and losses resulting from “upstream” and “downstream” transactions between an investor and its associates or joint ventures could result in structuring opportunities/ earnings management? If so, please explain and provide examples.

Question 5 – Impairment indicators (decline in fair value)

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~10092~~ IAS 28 requires an investor or joint venturer to determine whether there is any objective evidence indicating that its net investment in an associate or joint venture might be impaired. If an indication of impairment exists, an investor or joint venturer tests its net investment in an associate or joint venture for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. IAS 28 describe various events that are indications of impairment and states that a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. An application question arises about whether an investor or joint venturer should assess a decline in the fair value of an investment by comparing that fair value to the carrying amount of the net investment in the associate or joint venture at the reporting date or to the cost of the investment on initial recognition. Approaches applied in practice vary, but it is common for entities to compare the fair value of the investment with its carrying amount at the reporting date.

Cost or carrying amount

~~10193~~ The IASB decided to propose replacing ‘cost’ in paragraph 41C of IAS 28 with ‘carrying amount’—to require the investor or joint venturer to compare the fair value of the investment to its carrying amount, not its cost on initial recognition, when determining whether a decline in fair value indicates that an investment in an associate or joint venture might be impaired. In the IASB’s view, this approach is aligned with IAS 36. When applying IAS 36, the investor or joint venturer measures the impairment of an investment in an associate or joint venture by comparing the investment’s recoverable amount with its carrying amount, not its original cost.

A significant or prolonged decline in fair value

~~10294~~ When deciding to propose replacing ‘cost’ with ‘carrying amount’, the IASB also decided to propose removing ‘significant or prolonged’ to further align the requirements with IAS 36. If an investor or joint venturer recognises an impairment of an investment in an associate

or joint venture, it subsequently recognises a reversal of that impairment loss if the impairment no longer exists or decreases. The IASB, therefore, considered that the rationale for referring to a 'significant or prolonged' decline in fair value did not apply in the context of an investment in an associate or joint venture accounted for using the equity method. The IASB also noted that application difficulties had arisen in the past about how entities assessed whether a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale equity instrument was significant or prolonged.

Additional impairment guidance

~~10395~~The IASB decided to propose adding further guidance on the impairment requirements in IAS 28 to explain that information about the fair value of an investment might be observed from the price paid to purchase an additional ownership interest in an associate or joint venture or the price received to sell an ownership interest. As such, the IASB noted that a bargain purchase gain might be an indication of impairment.

Question 5- Impairment indicators (decline in fair value)

Paragraphs 41A–41C of IAS 28 describe various events that indicate the net investment in an associate could be impaired. Paragraph 41C of IAS 28 states that a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. One of the application questions asked whether an investor should assess a decline in the fair value of an investment by comparing that fair value to the carrying amount of the net investment in the associate at the reporting date or to the cost of the investment on initial recognition.

The IASB is proposing:

- (a) to replace 'decline...below cost' of an investment in paragraph 41C of IAS 28 with 'decline...to less than its carrying amount';
- (b) to remove 'significant or prolonged' decline in fair value; and
- (c) to add requirements to IAS 28 explaining that information about the fair value of the investment might be observed from the price paid to purchase an additional interest in the associate or received to sell part of the interest, or from a quoted market price for the investment.

The IASB is also proposing to reorganise the requirements in IAS 28 relating to impairment to make them easier to apply, and to align their wording with the requirements in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Paragraphs BC94–BC106 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB’s rationale for these proposals. Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG’s response to Question 5: Impairment indicators (decline in fair value)

~~104~~96 *General comment on the unit of account:* The ED specifies that when performing an impairment test, an entity is to consider the carrying amount as a whole and any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the net investment. EFRAG notes that the unit of account of impairment (i.e., entire investment) differs from the unit of account applied for the recognition of goodwill (i.e., each purchased layer while retaining significant influence).

~~105~~97 *Specific comment on ED proposals:* EFRAG is supportive of the ED’s proposals related to the impairment of investments in associates or joint ventures. Specifically, EFRAG welcomes the IASB’s decision to replace ‘cost’ with ‘carrying amount’ in paragraph 41C of the current IAS 28 guidance. Further, EFRAG supports specifying that the information about the fair value of an investment might be observed from the price paid to purchase additional ownership interest and adding this clarification as part of the objective evidence within the IAS 28 requirements.

~~106~~98 From the feedback received, EFRAG is supportive albeit aware of mixed views amongst stakeholders on the ED’s proposal to remove the “‘significant or prolonged’ decline in fair value” criterion. Supporters of this proposal note that it would alleviate the application difficulties related to the judgemental assessment of this criterion and thus would reduce diversity in practice.

~~107~~99 On the other hand, some stakeholders noted that this criterion has been useful in practice and its removal would result in an increased frequency of the impairment tests that an investor or joint venturer would undertake, and this will impose an incremental burden for preparers. These stakeholders have also expressed concerns that more frequent impairment testing due to no longer considering whether there is a significant and prolonged decline in fair value might result in more frequent impairment write-downs and their subsequent reversals. They are concerned that such volatility could lessen the predictive value of reported earnings (earnings quality) for users of financial statements. Relatedly, some users have indicated that rather than rely on the signal of the impairment of equity-accounted investments to gauge the prospects of associate or joint venture, they

rely on their own valuation and other sources of the fair value of the associates or joint ventures (e.g., the financial statements of the associates or joint ventures).

~~108~~100 That said, with regard to the above paragraph, EFRAG observes that, under the ED's proposal, the impairment would only occur if the recoverable amount (i.e., the higher of value in use and fair value) is less than the carrying amount and the impairment testing would only occur as frequently as done for other assets. As for users' relying on other complementary information while assessing the prospects of associates or joint ventures, EFRAG observes that the equity method is currently deemed to be the relevant accounting method for associates and joint ventures (i.e., where the investor has significant influence), and impairment only helps to ensure the depiction of a relevant and faithfully representative carrying amount of the associate or joint venture. EFRAG notes that users' reliance on other complementary information (i.e., besides the consolidated financial statements information) should not lessen the need to provide relevant and faithfully representative information in the consolidated financial statements.

~~109~~101 In supporting the removal of the "significant or prolonged' decline in fair value" criterion, EFRAG takes into account that it was removed while developing IFRS 9 requirements for the impairment of financial assets and consistency in the accounting requirements for similar transactions is desirable.

~~110~~102 Finally, based on stakeholders' feedback, EFRAG recommends that IAS 28 should refer to IAS 36 guidance without incorporating its requirements in the text of IAS 28 to avoid deviation from IAS 36 standard.

Question 6 – Investments in subsidiaries to which the equity method is applied in separate financial statements

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

Use of the equity method in separate financial statements

~~111~~103 Paragraph 10 of IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements requires an entity that prepares separate financial statements to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates:

- a) at cost;
- b) *In accordance with IFRS 9; or*
- c) *using the equity method as described in IAS 28*

~~112~~104 The use of the equity method was reintroduced by the IASB in 2014, as a measurement option for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in separate financial statements because the law in some jurisdictions requires listed companies to present separate financial statements using the equity method for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

Retaining the equity method when applying it in the separate financial statements

~~113~~105 When developing the proposals in the ED, the IASB decided not to develop a different equity method for use in the separate financial statements. This means that paragraph 10 of IAS 27 will remain unchanged, and would apply to investments in subsidiaries to which the equity method is applied in the investor's separate financial statements.

~~114~~106 The IASB noted that for separate financial statements, the focus is on the performance of the assets as investments. Paragraph BC117 of the Basis for Conclusions explains that paragraph BC7 of the Basis for Conclusions on IAS 27 notes that the IASB drew a distinction between accounting for investments in subsidiaries as equity instruments and accounting for the economic entity that a parent controls. Therefore:

- a) in separate financial statements, an investment in a subsidiary is accounted for as an asset under the parent's control (similar to an investment in an associate or joint venture), using one of the measurement options in IAS 27; whereas
- b) in consolidated financial statements, a subsidiary is accounted for as an entity under the parent's control, so that the assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent and its subsidiaries are presented as those of a single economic entity

~~115~~107 Paragraph BC121 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED explains that feedback from outreach with stakeholders suggests that the use of the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements is prevalent in only a few jurisdictions. In other jurisdictions in which separate financial statements are prepared, the cost option in IAS 27 is typically used.

Differences between the results of the equity method in the consolidated accounts and separate financial statements

~~116~~108 Paragraph BC10G of the Basis for Conclusions on IAS 27 notes that there could be situations in which applying the equity method to investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements would give a different result compared to consolidated financial statements.

~~117~~109 As explained in paragraph BC122, the IASB was informed that there is diversity in practice when the equity method is applied to investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements. For example, when a parent entity applies the equity method to an investment in a subsidiary:

- a) some parent entities aim to align the amounts reported in separate financial statements with those reported in consolidated financial statements, by analogising to IFRS 3 and IFRS 10; whereas
- b) other parent entities do not aim to achieve that alignment.

~~118~~110 Hence the IASB notes that the effects, in practice, of applying the IASB's proposed solutions to the application questions to investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements will vary depending on a parent entity's existing accounting policies.

~~119~~111 Paragraph BC10G of IAS 27 explains the situations in which applying the equity method in separate financial statements to investments in subsidiaries would give a **different result compared to the consolidated financial statements**. These include:

- a) impairment testing requirements in IAS 28. For an investment in a subsidiary accounted for in separate financial statements using the equity method, goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in the subsidiary is tested for impairment as a single asset, which is different to what is done in the consolidated financial statements of the entity.
- b) subsidiary that has a net liability position. IAS 28 requires an investor to discontinue recognising its share of further losses when its cumulative share of losses of the investee equals or exceeds its interest in the investee, unless the investor has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee, in which case a liability is recognised, whereas there is no such requirement in relation to the consolidated financial statements.
- c) capitalisation of borrowing costs incurred by a parent in relation to the assets of a subsidiary. IAS 23 Borrowing Costs notes that, in some circumstances, it may be appropriate to include all borrowings of the parent and its subsidiaries when computing a weighted average of the borrowing costs. However, this might not be the case in the separate financial statements of the parent if the parent's investment in the subsidiary is a financial asset, which is not a qualifying asset.

~~120~~112 As explained above, there are already differences between consolidated and separate financial statements regarding the equity method.

~~121~~113 The IASB acknowledged that in some cases, new or increased differences between separate and consolidated financial statements could arise from the ED proposals. For example, applying the proposed requirements, the parent would recognise, in full, gains or losses on transactions with subsidiaries in its separate financial statements. However, in its consolidated financial statements, it would eliminate, in full, such gains or losses.

Aligning the amounts reported in separate financial statements with those reported in consolidated financial statements for subsidiaries

~~122~~114 In practice entities that opt to apply the equity method in the separate financial statements for subsidiaries want to achieve the same result for net assets and profit or loss attributable to the owners in the entity's separate financial statements as in the consolidated financial statements. This could be because the separate financial statements are used to determine dividend payouts or tax reasons.

Alternative View of IASB member Mr Tadeu ~~Cendon~~ [Cendon](#)

~~123~~115 As explained in paragraph AV1 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED, Mr ~~Cendon~~ [Cendon](#) supports the proposals in the ED including recognition, in full, the gains and losses resulting from all its upstream and downstream transactions with its associates or joint ventures. However, he considers that IAS 27 should have been amended to include an option to apply the equity method of accounting differently when the parent has control of the investee (the investee is a subsidiary) and the entity elects to apply the equity method.

~~124~~116 In Mr Cendon's provides the following arguments in support of his alternative view:

- a) associates or joint ventures not part of the reporting entity in consolidated financial statements. However, this characteristic is not present when the investee is a subsidiary. Subsidiaries are part of the reporting entity as the parent controls the individual assets and liabilities of the subsidiary.
- b) The proposed amendments, in practice, assume that the equity method is a measurement basis because they disregard the existence of control and require the same treatment in both consolidated and separate accounts prepared under IFRS. However, he notes that because of the notion of control, a subsidiary is fundamentally different from an associate or joint venture.
- c) IAS 27 does not provide much insight into the purpose of separate financial statements or the principles behind the accounting options for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates.

- d) *The proposed amendment to recognise full gains and losses on transactions on transactions with a subsidiary when applying the equity method in the separate financial statements will result in **an additional difference** to the outcome in the consolidated financial statement (such gains and losses are eliminated under IFRS 10). This will pose a concern in jurisdictions where separate financial statements play an important role (for example for taxation and capital maintenance, including paying dividends and assessing insolvency and bankruptcy) and an entity opts to apply the equity method for subsidiaries in its separate financial statements. Such differences between the two sets of accounts could increase the cost of compliance and add complexity for users as they would need to understand why such differences exist.*

125117 *In conclusion, Mr Cendon believes that, until the IASB addresses the conceptual questions about the nature and purpose of the equity method and the purpose of separate financial statements:*

- a) *An option should be added to IAS 27 to allow a parent to apply the equity method for investments in subsidiaries consistently with the procedures used when preparing consolidated financial statements.*
- b) *A parent choosing this option would eliminate gains or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions with its subsidiaries and remeasure the previously held interest when it obtains control of an associate or joint venture, or remeasure its retained investment when an entity loses control of a subsidiary and retains an investment in that former subsidiary as an investment in an associate or joint venture.*

126118 *Paragraphs AV2-AV13 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED explain Mr Cendou's alternative view.*

Question 6 - Separate financial statements

Paragraph 10 of IAS 27 permits a parent entity to use the equity method in IAS 28 to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in separate financial statements.

The IASB is proposing to retain paragraph 10 of IAS 27 unchanged, meaning that the proposals in this Exposure Draft would apply to investments in subsidiaries to which the equity method is applied in the investor's separate financial statements.

Paragraphs BC112–BC127 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB’s rationale for this proposal. Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG’s response to Question 6- Separate Financial Statements

General comments

~~127~~119 The ED proposes the application of a single equity method across consolidated and separate financial statements prepared under IFRS Accounting Standards. While acknowledging there are reservations with this proposal including the Alternative View expressed in the ED (by Mr Cendon), EFRAG generally supports the ED’s proposal and considers that introducing two versions of the equity method would introduce unnecessary complexity.

~~128~~120 Moreover, EFRAG understands that applying the same equity method for subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures in the separate financial statements is consistent with the IASB’s view that in the separate financial statements, an investment in a subsidiary is accounted for as an asset controlled by the investor (the parent entity) rather than as a business and that the focus is on the performance of the asset. Therefore, regardless of whether an investor has control or significant influence over the investee, the same equity method is used to measure the investments reported in the separate financial statements.

~~129~~121 As noted in the response to Question 4, the application of ED’s proposals for the recognition of full gains or losses for transactions with investees (i.e., subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the case of separate financial statements) is consistent with the view of the equity method as a measurement method. Of note, under the other allowed measurement basis (i.e., fair value and cost) for separate financial statements, there would also be full recognition of the gains or losses arising from an investor’s transactions with its investees (including subsidiaries).

~~130~~122 EFRAG also notes that based on outreach conducted by the IASB (see paragraph BC121 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED), the use of the equity in the separate accounts is prevalent in only a few jurisdictions with the cost option in IAS 27 being typically used. [However, EFRAG considers that this could change in the future if local requirements change.](#) That said, through questions to constituents and outreach done during the consultation period, EFRAG aims to further assess and identify any issues that may arise from the application of the ED’s proposals to separate financial statements within the EU.

Concerns raised

~~131~~123 Though supportive of the ED's proposals, EFRAG acknowledges that, as highlighted in Mr Cendon's Alternative View against mandating the ED proposals when the equity method is applied for separate financial statements, there could be a question about the conceptual merits of juxtaposing the principles of the equity method applied in the consolidated financial statements (i.e., as akin to both a consolidation approach and measurement method as can be seen in our responses to Question 1 to 4) to the equity method applied in the separate financial statements. As noted, for the latter, the focus is on performance as an investment and the equity method ought to be de facto applied as a measurement method. Another concern is the widening of differences¹⁰ between consolidated and separate financial statements from the ED's proposals due to:

- a) the required full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with controlled subsidiaries instead of restricting the reporting entity's/investor's share as required under IFRS 10.
- b) applying the layered approach instead of IFRS 3 principles when acquiring additional interest in controlled subsidiaries

~~132~~124 That said, even though EFRAG acknowledges that separate financial statements play an important role when used to declare dividends, tax reasons and/or fulfil commercial law requirements, we consider that, if at all, issues and concerns related to separate financial statements ought to be addressed in a project on IAS 27 rather than under the amendments to IAS 28. [EFRAG acknowledges and agrees that the uptake of such a project would depend on stakeholder feedback to future IASB agenda consultations. If pursued,](#) such a project could clarify¹¹ the objective of the separate financial statements and either justify or narrow the differences between the consolidated and separate financial statements. In that regard, EFRAG's past proactive work (2014 Discussion Paper¹²- Separate

¹⁰ There are existing differences between consolidated and separate financial statements due to differences in impairment testing, recognition of losses, differing requirements for capitalisation of borrowing costs

¹¹ The application of the equity method in the separate financial statements was eliminated by the IASB in 2003 and reintroduced in 2014 as it was mandated by some jurisdictions. The IASB

¹² EFRAG, 2014, [Discussion Paper, Separate Financial Statements](#). And the related 2015 EFRAG [Feedback Statement, Responses to the Discussion Paper, Separate Financial Statements](#).

Financial Statement) contains some useful thinking (e.g., outlines the perspectives of users of separate financial statements and has suggestions for narrowing differences between consolidated financial statements) that can inform a potential IASB project on IAS 27. ~~We also suggest short term solutions below.~~

Recognition of full gains or losses for transactions with investees

~~133~~125 ¶ As noted in EFRAG's response to Question 4 on the ED's proposals for the full recognition of gains or losses for transactions with investees, some stakeholders have expressed concerns that ~~entities~~an entity can restructure transactions with its subsidiaries to achieve a desired outcome. This concern is at play wherever the equity method is used to account for subsidiaries reported as investments in separate financial statements. On this matter, EFRAG notes that, as addressed in Question 7, the ED requires disclosures that will allow users to assess the reasonableness and sustainability of these transactions and their pricing for benchmarking against market terms.

Transaction costs and cost definition in Appendix A:

Transaction costs

~~134~~126 Similar to consolidated financial statements addressed in Question 1, stakeholders have highlighted that it is unclear how transaction costs are treated in separate financial statements when an entity opts for applying the equity method to account for its subsidiaries. Moreover, EFRAG is concerned that the definition of the cost of an associate or joint venture as defined in Appendix A of the ED ~~may~~could have ~~unintended consequences when applying IAS 27 and result~~implications on the accounting for transaction costs relating to subsidiaries that are equity-accounted-for in ~~inconsistencies across IFRS Accounting Standards~~the separate financial statements.

EFRAG suggestions

Long term solutions

~~As noted in paragraph 125, EFRAG recommends that in the longer term, the IASB should address the conceptual questions about the nature and purpose~~Applicability of the equity method and how this purpose links with the purpose of the proposals for investments measured at cost in separate financial statements. ~~Other than additional work on~~

127 Stakeholders have indicated it is not clear whether the clarification regarding the definition of the cost of an associate or a joint venture in Appendix A is also applicable to the cost of a subsidiary. Hence, to avoid divergence in practice, EFRAG suggests the IASB clarifies whether the definition of cost is the same for all types of investments (i.e. associates, joint venturers and subsidiaries) especially given that, as per the ED's proposals, the fair value of a contingent consideration is deemed to part of the cost of an investment in an associate

or a joint venture. As explained in paragraphs BC91-92 this proposal is consistent with IFRS 3 and consistent with the predominant current practice.

128 Stakeholders have also questioned and are seeking clarification on whether the fair value of contingent consideration is also part of the cost of an investment measured at cost. This clarification is needed because the equity method itself, this would require the IASB to conduct a more comprehensive of the purpose of is also understood as a variant of the notion of cost measurement and thus some stakeholders may expect consistency across different notions of cost.

129 Similarly, stakeholders are seeking clarification on whether the equity method proposals for a step acquisition or the loss of control of a subsidiary extend to investments that are measured at cost in the separate financial statements and examine whether or not. As explained in paragraph BC132, the absence of a change to the accounting policies for method suggests that the parent should not remeasure the previously held interest or the retained interest. Some stakeholders consider that this argument is valid also when the investment is measured at cost before and after the transaction.

135130 As per paragraph 125, EFRAG is cognisant that the separate and consolidated financial statement issues may need to be addressed in a future project based on feedback to future IASB agenda consultations. However, at a minimum, based on the expressed stakeholder concerns, EFRAG suggests and considers this to be a key opportunity for the IASB to clarify the applicability of the ED's equity methods proposals (i.e., in respect of contingent consideration, step acquisitions and loss of control of subsidiaries) towards investments measured at cost in the separate financial statements should be aligned.

Short-term solutions

As a short-term solution, EFRAG recommends Other suggested next steps

136131 EFRAG seeks constituents' views on whether to recommend that the IASB explores the proposal by Mr Cendon (see paragraph AV13 of the Basis for Conclusions) **to add an option to IAS 27** to allow a parent to apply the equity method for investments in subsidiaries consistently with the procedures used when preparing consolidated financial statements. This means that a parent entity choosing this option would:

- a) eliminate gains or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions with its subsidiaries; and
- b) remeasure the previously held interest when it obtains control of an associate or joint venture, or remeasure its retained investment when an entity loses control of

a subsidiary and retains an investment in that former subsidiary as an investment in an associate or joint venture.

~~137~~132 [Alternatively, the IASB could](#) [EFRAG is also seeking constituents' views on whether to recommend the IASB](#) consider requiring an entity that applies the equity method for subsidiaries in its separate financial statements to **provide a reconciliation to explain¹³ that explains** the differences between the amounts in the consolidated and the separate financial statements. The reconciliation could explain the following:

- a) amounts reported in the shareholder's equity in the parent's separate financial statements, with the equity attributable to the owners of the parent in consolidated financial statements; and
- b) the carrying amount of its investment in a subsidiary in the parent's separate financial statements; with the net assets of the subsidiary attributable to the parent as in the parent's consolidated financial statements.

~~138~~133 The reconciliation could be an aggregate for all subsidiaries or require disaggregated information for each material subsidiary (that is material to the reporting entity). [EFRAG understands that gauging the suitability of such a reconciliation will depend on balancing the practicability versus benefits of transparency on the differences between consolidated and separate financial statements for users of financial statements. Hence, via a question to constituents and outreach, EFRAG is seeking views on this reconciliation.](#)

Questions to Constituents

6.1 Do you opt to apply the equity method in the separate financial statements for investments in subsidiaries? If so, why?

6.2. While applying the equity method, do you analogise IFRS 3 and IFRS 10 requirements (e.g., for transaction costs, and the elimination of gains or losses for transactions with subsidiaries)? Are there significant differences between the same line item in the separate financial statements versus consolidated financial statements?

6.3 What are your views on [the suggestion in paragraph 129 put forward by Mr Cendon in his](#) [Cendon's alternative view expressed in paragraph 123](#)?

¹³ [The reconciliation would be in the separate financial statements](#)

[6.43 Do you agree with the suggested clarification of the applicability of the equity method principles towards investments that are measured at cost in separate financial statements?](#)

[6.3 Do you agree with the suggestion for an option to be allowed and a reconciliation ~~in~~ \[paragraph 130?\]\(#\) \[required as stated in paragraphs 132 to 134?\]\(#\) If ~~you do not agree,~~ please explain why.](#)

Question 7 – Disclosure requirements

Notes to the constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

Proposed amendments to IFRS 12

~~139~~134 The IASB is proposing to amend IFRS 12, in relation to:

- a) Changes in an investor's ownership interest while retaining significant influence.
- b) Transactions with associates;
- c) Contingent consideration; and
- d) Other matters raised by users.

Changes in an investor's ownership interest while retaining significant influence

~~140~~135 The IASB decided not to propose new disclosure requirements for the purchase or the disposal of an ownership interest in an associate or joint venture, while retaining significant influence, to be consistent with existing disclosure requirements in IFRS Accounting Standards applied to investments in associates.

~~141~~136 The IASB decided to require investors to disclose gains and losses resulting from changes in ownership interest in profit or loss, as it is not expected to be costly for preparers of financial statements and would provide useful information.

Transactions with associates

~~142~~137 The IASB decided to propose requiring an investor to disclose any gains or losses from downstream transactions with its associates. This would help users to assess earning quality. It would also allow users to adjust the recognised gain or loss in their analysis and to assess the reasonableness and sustainability of these transactions and their pricing for benchmarking against market terms.

Contingent consideration

~~143~~138 The IASB decided to propose requiring an investor that enters into a contingent consideration arrangement to disclose:

- a) *For the period in which it obtains significant influence over an associate or joint venture or purchases an additional ownership interest:*
 - (i) *the amount recognised as at the date the entity obtains significant influence or purchases an additional ownership interest.*
 - (ii) *a description of the arrangement and the basis for determining the amount of the payment.*
 - (iii) *an estimate of the range of outcomes (undiscounted) or, if a range cannot be estimated, the fact, and the reasons why a range cannot be estimated. If the maximum amount of the payment is unlimited, the investor would be required to disclose that fact.*

- b) *For each subsequent reporting period until the investor collects or settles the contingent consideration or it is cancelled or expires:*
 - (i) *any changes in the amounts recognised, including any differences arising upon settlement.*
 - (ii) *any changes in the range of outcomes (undiscounted) and the reasons for those changes.*
 - (iii) *the valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure the contingent consideration.*

Other matters raised by users

144139 *The IASB acknowledged users' request for additional disclosure on interests in other entities. However, it also noted that it would need to assess the costs of implementing the new requirements and the benefits of the additional information. Because the IASB concluded that entities can meet the disclosure objective in IFRS 12, it assessed the matter to be of low priority.*

145140 *The IASB decided to propose:*

- a) *a disclosure objective requiring an investor to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the changes in the carrying amount of investments in associates or joint ventures; and*

- b) *a reconciliation between the opening and closing carrying amount of its investments in associates or joint ventures, to meet the new disclosure objective. In the IASB's view, it would help users distinguish between changes arising from cash transactions and changes arising from non-cash transactions.*

~~146~~141 The IASB observed that a reconciliation between the opening and closing amount of particular types of assets and liabilities is often required in other IFRS Accounting Standards. The IASB does not expect the proposed requirement to disclose such a reconciliation to be overly costly for preparers.

Applying the proposed disclosure requirements to investments in joint ventures

~~147~~142 The IASB decided to propose the same improved disclosure requirements for investments in joint ventures, as it would be consistent with IFRS 12, which generally requires the same information to be disclosed for the two categories of investments.

~~148~~143 The IASB decided not to develop a specific requirement with two separate reconciliations – one for the investor's investments in its associates and another for its investments in joint ventures.

~~149~~144 The IASB also considered whether to extend the proposed disclosure requirement relating to downstream transactions to gains or losses from upstream transactions with joint ventures but decided not to do so. It would be costly to apply, and entities sometimes experience difficulties with accessing information about gains or losses recognised by an associate in upstream transactions.

Proposed amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

~~150~~145 The IASB decided that its proposed solutions to the application questions in the scope of the project would also apply to a parent that chose to use the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries in its separate financial statements.

~~151~~146 The IASB decided, with one exception, not to require the same information to be disclosed, for two reasons: the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 generally do not apply to separate financial statements; and the disclosure requirements in IAS 27 or other IFRS Accounting Standards do not require the disclosure of quantitative information in separate financial statements about investments in subsidiaries to which the equity method is applied.

~~152~~147 However, the IASB decided to propose requiring a parent that chose to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries in its separate financial statements to disclose gains or losses from downstream transactions with its subsidiaries. The information would help users understand how much of the parent's profit or loss was generated from such transactions.

~~153~~148 The IASB decided to not propose similar disclosure requirements for gains or losses recognised by the parent's subsidiaries in upstream transactions.

Question 7- Disclosures

The IASB is proposing amendments to IFRS 12 in this Exposure Draft. For investments accounted for using the equity method, the IASB is proposing to require an investor or a joint venturer to disclose:

- (a) gains or losses from other changes in its ownership interest;
- (b) gains or losses resulting from 'downstream' transactions with its associates or joint ventures;
- (c) information about contingent consideration arrangements; and
- (d) a reconciliation between the opening and closing carrying amount of its investments.

The IASB is also proposing an amendment to IAS 27 to require a parent—if it uses the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements—to disclose the gains or losses resulting from its 'downstream' transactions with its subsidiaries.

Paragraphs BC137–BC171 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB's rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG's response to Question 7- Disclosures

~~154~~149 *Reconciliation of open and closing carrying amount*: Based on the feedback from users, EFRAG welcomes the proposed requirements and especially the reconciliation between the opening and closing carrying amount of the equity-accounted investments. We recommend the requirement of further disaggregation of this information as that would be useful for users' assessment of the prospects of the reporting entity's associates and joint ventures (dividend distribution and share of net income/losses). To minimise the reporting burden, EFRAG also recommends that a more disaggregated roll forward should only be required for strategic investments.

~~155~~150 Despite users supporting the reconciliation of opening and closing balances, some preparers have highlighted that such a reconciliation would be costly and complex to prepare while others have observed that many entities already include a reconciliation between the opening and closing carrying amount of their investments, albeit with different level of details. ~~Hence, by posing a question to constituents, EFRAG would like to further investigate the cost/benefit balance of this proposed disclosure.~~

~~156~~151 IFRS 12 requires an investor/reporting entity to disclose¹⁴ selected financial information for material joint venturers and associates. Relatedly, stakeholders have indicated to EFRAG that it is not clear which adjustments to fair value are to be considered as there could be multiple fair value adjustments if step acquisitions of ownership interests occur while retaining significant influence. It is also not clear how that information is to be reconciled to the carrying amount of the investment. EFRAG therefore suggests that the IASB provides further clarification on these aspects.

~~157~~152 *Disclosures related to bargain purchase gains:* In the response to Question 1, EFRAG noted that users have called for transparency on bargain purchase gains as these may reflect an entity's structuring activities. Hence, though not included in the ED proposals, EFRAG recommends that the IASB include disclosure requirements for bargain purchase gains similar to the related requirements under IFRS 3. Requiring the suggested disclosures would provide transparency on the reasons for the bargain purchase gains and this would be beneficial for users of financial statements.

~~158~~153 *Disclosures of gains or losses from 'downstream' transactions with associates or joint ventures:* EFRAG acknowledges the reason for this disclosure articulated in paragraph BC 144 of the Basis for Conclusions (i.e., to assess earning quality, allow users to make analytical adjustments of recognised gains or losses, and assess reasonableness and sustainability of these transactions). This proposed disclosure will complement the existing requirements in IAS 24 *Related Party Transactions* to disclose related party information on transactions with associates or joint ventures.

~~159~~154 However, some stakeholders have raised concerns about ~~having to potentially disclose commercially sensitive information including margins as well as concerns about~~ the cost and complexity of detailed tracking of transactions with associates and joint ventures. Hence, these stakeholders have called for the IASB to further consider the cost/benefit balance of this disclosure. EFRAG also suggests that the IASB further clarifies the level of disaggregation required for this information.

155 [In addition, some stakeholders inquired whether the gains or losses should be further defined within the ED to help the investor identify all relevant transactions. For example,](#)

¹⁴ Paragraph B14 of IFRS 12 specifies that the joint venturer' or associate's financial information shall be adjusted to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, such as fair value adjustments made at the time of acquisition and adjustments for differences in accounting policies. Paragraph B14 requires also that an entity shall provide a reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the joint venture or associate.

[the stakeholders raised that it was not clear whether an investor would need to report the interest charged on the lease transactions to its investee as a gain.](#)

~~160~~156 *Disclosure requirements related to other changes:* EFRAG suggests clarifying whether the required disclosure on gains or losses from 'other changes' as stated in paragraph 21 (d) of the amended IFRS 12 presented in the ED refers only to the changes that occur when an associate or joint venture redeems or issues equity instrument or if it means any other overall changes.

Question to Constituents – Disclosures

~~7.1 As noted in paragraphs 144 and 145, there are mixed views on the proposed reconciliation of opening and closing carrying amounts (i.e., support from users and concerns about cost and complexity from some preparers). To the extent you can, please describe the benefits to users of the availability of this information versus the costs and complexity of preparing this information that you are aware of.~~

Question 8 – Disclosure requirements for eligible subsidiaries

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~161~~157 *The IASB decided to propose amendments to IFRS 19 to require an eligible subsidiary:*

- a) *To disclose gains or losses resulting from downstream transactions with its associates or joint ventures;*
- b) *To disclose, in the period in which the entity obtains significant influence or joint control or purchases an additional ownership interest, for contingent consideration arrangements:*
 - (i) *The amount recognised at the date it obtains significant influence or joint control, or at the date it purchases that additional ownership interest;*
 - (ii) *A description of the arrangement; and*
 - (iii) *The basis for determining the amount of the payment;*
- c) *To disclose, for each subsequent reporting period until the entity collects or settles that contingent consideration or it is cancelled or expires:*
 - (i) *Any changes in the recognised amounts, including any differences arising upon settlement; and*
 - (ii) *The valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure contingent consideration; and*

- d) *To disclose gains or losses resulting from downstream transactions with its subsidiaries if the entity is a parent that uses the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries in its separate financial statements.*

162158 *Based on the principles that inspired the IASB to develop IFRS 19, in the IASB's view:*

- a) *The information about contingent consideration would provide users with useful information about cash flows and commitments. Also, the proposed disclosure requirements are consistent with the disclosure requirements in IFRS 19 for contingent consideration in business combinations.*
- b) *The information about gains or losses from downstream transactions would help users disaggregate those gains or losses from gains or losses from transactions with third parties, and is, therefore, consistent with the disaggregation principle.*

163159 *The IASB also decided not to propose amendments to IFRS 19 for the other proposed amendments to IFRS 12.*

Question 8 – Disclosure requirements for eligible subsidiaries

IFRS 19 permits eligible subsidiaries to apply IFRS Accounting Standards with reduced disclosure requirements. It specifies the disclosure requirements an eligible subsidiary applies instead of the disclosure requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards.

As part of developing proposed amendments to the disclosure requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards, the IASB regularly considers which of those proposed amendments should be included in IFRS 19, based on the IASB's principles for reducing disclosure requirements for eligible subsidiaries.

The IASB is proposing amendments to IFRS 19 to require an eligible subsidiary:

- (a) to disclose information about contingent consideration arrangements; and
- (b) to disclose gains or losses resulting from 'downstream' transactions with its associates or joint ventures.

The IASB is also proposing an amendment to IFRS 19 to require a subsidiary that chooses to apply the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements to disclose gains or losses resulting from 'downstream' transactions with those subsidiaries.

Paragraphs BC172–BC177 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB's rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative, taking into consideration the principles for reducing disclosure requirements for eligible subsidiaries applying IFRS 19 (see paragraph BC175 of the Basis for Conclusions).

EFRAG's response to Question 8- Disclosure requirements for eligible subsidiaries

~~164~~160 EFRAG notes that the reconciliation table between the opening and the closing carrying amount of the investments would also be relevant for the users of subsidiaries without public accountability.

~~165~~161 EFRAG acknowledges that this information is expected to be available at the subsidiary level especially for subsidiaries applying the equity method, thus alleviating the cost of obtaining this information from the parent entity.

~~166~~162 EFRAG has received feedback conveying that contingent consideration can be beneficial for users who rely on subsidiary-level reports for decision-making.

Question 9 – Transition

Notes to the constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~167~~163 *The proposed requirements would require some entities to change their accounting policies when using the equity method to account for an investment in an associate or joint venture.*

~~168~~164 *The ED proposes that, on transition, an investor or joint venturer shall apply the proposed amendments prospectively, except in the following cases:*

- a) *Gains and losses on transactions with associates or joint ventures - apply retrospectively the requirement to recognise the full gain or loss on all transactions with associates or joint ventures (paragraph 53 of the ED). This means that an investor shall recognise it shall recognise the previously restricted portion of gains or losses from transactions with associates or joint ventures **as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment and the retained earnings at the transition date.***
- b) *Contingent consideration – if contingent consideration with respect to an associate or joint venture exists at the transition date, it shall be recognised as follows:*

- (i) recognise and **measure contingent consideration at fair value at the transition date**, with a corresponding **adjustment to the carrying amount of its investments in associates or joint ventures**
- (ii) **not remeasure contingent consideration** that an investor had **classified as an equity instrument** and measured at fair value at the date it obtained significant influence.

169165 The IASB's reasoning for retrospective application for gains and losses on transactions with equity-accounted investees are explained in paragraphs BC182 – BC186 of the Basis for Conclusions. Essentially, the IASB considers that the information should be available to preparers. For contingent consideration, the IASB argues in paragraphs BC187-BC192 of the Basis for Conclusions that applying the proposals prospectively would result in a lack of comparability.

170166 The IASB proposes that in relation to transition:

- a) the date of initial application is the beginning of the annual reporting period in which an investor or joint venturer first applies the proposed requirements; and
- b) the transition date is the beginning of the annual period immediately preceding the date of initial application, except for entities that present more than one period of comparative information.

171167 In deciding on the transition requirements, the IASB acknowledged that retrospective application would result in the most useful information for users. However, the IASB concluded that for the other proposed amendments the costs to preparers to apply the proposals retrospectively would outweigh the benefits to users.

172168 The IASB is also proposing relief from restating any additional prior periods presented. As explained in C9 of the ED, the IASB is granting an option not to adjust prior periods if an entity presents more than one period of comparative information.

Question 9- Transition

The IASB is proposing to require an entity:

- (a) to apply retrospectively the requirement to recognise the full gain or loss on all transactions with associates or joint ventures;
- (b) to apply the requirements on contingent consideration by recognising and measuring contingent consideration at fair value at the transition date—generally the beginning of

the annual reporting period immediately preceding the date of initial application—and adjusting the carrying amount of its investments in associates or joint ventures accordingly; and

(c) to apply prospectively all the other requirements from the transition date.

The IASB is also proposing relief from restating any additional prior periods presented. Paragraphs BC178–BC216 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB’s rationale for these proposals.

Do you agree with these proposals?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG’s response to Question 9 - Transition

173169 EFRAG generally agrees that where it can be meaningfully done, the retrospective application under IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors* would result in the most useful information for users.

174170 However, based on the feedback received so far, EFRAG considers that retrospective application might be complex and costly for most, if not all, of the proposed requirements because it could require information (such as fair values of assets or liabilities, gains and loss on past transactions) for transactions that occurred long before the effective date of the new or amended requirements being proposed. The level of difficulty may depend on the accounting policies entities will have at the transition date, ~~and on the types of transactions and~~ the volume of transactions an entity will need to restate.

175171 Therefore, as elaborated in the following paragraphs, EFRAG recommends that prospective application ~~also be allowed or~~ required for the proposed requirements for

- a) gains and losses on transactions with associates or joint ventures and
- b) contingent consideration.

Gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures

176172 EFRAG considers that the proposal to recognise the full gain or loss retrospectively could create a significant burden on the entities which previously applied partial gain or loss recognition. EFRAG also notes that in such cases ~~retrospective application it~~ would not

always be possible¹⁵ to ~~be applied~~ apply the retrospective application without undue costs to prepares

~~177~~173 Furthermore, EFRAG notes that IAS 8 allows an entity to apply the accounting requirements prospectively if the retrospective application is impracticable. However, the use of the 'impracticable' relief is generally seen as a high hurdle in practice and may lead to lengthy discussions with auditors when agreeing on what may be considered 'impracticable'.

~~178~~174 While EFRAG agrees that when applying the partial gain or loss recognition under current IAS 28, an entity ought to track the remaining balance of the unrecognised gain or loss over time, EFRAG is not convinced with the assertion in BC184 of the Basis for Conclusions of the ED claiming that the information is readily available to preparers in the level of detail required to apply the new requirements retrospectively. An entity may need to incur significant costs to get precise information.

~~179~~ EFRAG therefore recommends the IASB should require the retrospective transition approach unless difficulties faced in providing this information necessitate prospective transition for these two items (for TEG discussion) or only require prospective transition for all items. EFRAG is cognisant that if different entities can use either the retrospective or prospective transition approaches, it would undermine comparability across entities. But the retrospective approach whenever it can be applied (e.g., for companies that have recorded unrecognised losses) provides users of financial statements with relevant information.

175 EFRAG therefore recommends the IASB should require prospective application on transition of the proposal for gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures.

Contingent consideration

~~180~~176 EFRAG acknowledges that, as stated in BC188 of the Basis for Conclusions on the ED, the proposed requirements for contingent consideration are similar to those in IFRS 3. In some cases, entities applying the equity method to an investment in an associate or joint venture may already apply, by analogy, the requirements for contingent consideration in

¹⁵ During EFRAG's outreach, fact patterns were presented highlighting this difficulty. For instance, it was highlighted in cases where an entity applied a net investment hedge for an associate or joint venture located in a foreign jurisdiction.

IFRS 3. In such cases, the retrospective application would be feasible because no adjustments to prior recognised amounts are necessary.

~~181~~177 However, entities that may have applied a cost notion in the measurement of contingent consideration would need to determine the fair value of the contingent consideration at the date of obtaining significant influence or joint control, which may have occurred long before the transition date. For such entities, the retrospective application could be costly and burdensome. Furthermore, as pointed out in BC190 of the Basis for Conclusions on the ED, the measurement of the contingent consideration may be linked to unobservable inputs such as the future performance of the associate or joint venture. Determining those inputs on transition for the date of obtaining significant influence or joint control would involve the use of hindsight.

~~182~~ EFRAG therefore recommends the IASB should ~~require the retrospective transition approach unless difficulties faced in providing this information necessitate prospective transition for these two items (for TEG discussion) or only require prospective transition for all items. EFRAG is cognisant that if different entities can use either the retrospective or prospective transition approaches, it would undermine comparability across entities. But the retrospective approach whenever it can be applied provides users of financial statements with relevant information.~~

~~178~~ Paragraph C8 of EFRAG therefore also recommends the IASB should require a prospective transition in the application of the proposed amendments for contingent consideration.

Clarification point in Appendix C of the ED

~~183~~179 Paragraph C8 of Appendix C of the ED states:

“If an investor or joint venturer applying paragraphs C4–C7 increases the carrying amount of its investment in an associate or joint venture and estimated the recoverable amount of that investment at the transition date, in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the investor or joint venturer shall reduce that carrying amount to that recoverable amount, if applicable. The investor or joint venturer shall recognise any impairment loss in the opening balance of retained earnings at the transition date.”

~~184~~180 EFRAG is uncertain if the intention of paragraph C8 is to require an entity to determine the recoverable amount of its investment in an associate or joint venture when it increases the carrying amount of the investment when applying the transition requirements in C4-C7 or whether it is an option. EFRAG considers that, if an entity increases the carrying amount of the investment at the transition date, it should be

required to carry out an impairment test at the date of transition. This would avoid an entity having to recognise future impairments, that result from past adjustments, in profit and loss.

Question to constituents

9.1 Paragraphs BC182 – BC192 of the Basis for Conclusions present the IASB’s reasons for the ED’s proposal for the retrospective application at the transition date in respect of a) the full recognition of gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures; and b) the fair value measurement of contingent consideration. In paragraphs 170 ~~168~~ to 178~~175~~, EFRAG highlights the challenges that may arise from this proposal of retrospective application and is therefore recommending prospective application for both these proposals.

~~Do you consider the proposed retrospective~~ Do you agree with EFRAG’s recommendation for prospective application for gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures and contingent consideration? If not, do you consider the proposed retrospective application for these proposals to be practicable and beneficial? Please explain.

Question 10 – Expected effects (cost-benefit balance) of the proposals

Notes to constituents – Summary of proposals in the ED

~~185~~181 *The ED proposals would affect entities that:*

- a) *Are required to apply the equity method under IAS 28 to investments in associates and joint venturers in their consolidated financial statements or in individual financial statements; and*
- b) *Choose to use the equity method for investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the separate financial statements as permitted under IAS 27.*

~~186~~182 *The impact of the proposals on affected entities will depend on the level of transactions entities undertake with equity-accounted investees and on how different the entity’s existing accounting policies are from the proposed requirements for those transactions.*

Expected effects on information reported in the financial statements

~~187~~183 *Paragraph BC221 provides a table that summarises the IASB’s view on the expected effects on information reported in the consolidated financial statements and where applicable in the separate financial statements.*

~~188~~184 *The IASB explains that:*

- a) *The main effects will arise because the proposals in the ED might require an entity to change their accounting policies (for example changes in ownership interest, recognition of losses and transactions with equity-accounted investees. The other effect will arise from the additional proposed disclosure requirements.*
- b) *With regards to the proposals on the accounting for deferred taxes and contingent consideration, the IASB notes that, although approaches in practice vary, it is common for entities to apply a similar approach to that required by IFRS 3 for business combinations.*
- c) *Concerning the impairment proposals, the IASB notes that the proposals do not change the way an entity tests equity-accounted investees for impairment.*

Expected benefits of the quality of information reported (paragraphs BC222 and BC223 of the Basis for Conclusions)

189185 *The IASB explains that:*

- a) *Users will benefit from more comparable information given that the proposals in the ED address aspects of the equity method for which there is currently no guidance or where current guidance is inconsistent with other IFRS Accounting Standards.*
- b) *Users will also benefit from the proposed disclosure requirements which ought to provide a better understanding of transactions with equity-accounted investees.*

Expected costs of implementing and applying the proposals (paragraphs BC224 – BC229 of the Basis for Conclusions)

190186 *The IASB considers that the proposals will reduce costs to preparers, auditors and regulators by providing answers to application questions arising in practice for entities applying the equity method.*

191187 *The IASB acknowledges that entities will need to change their current accounting policies to apply many of the proposals and will also need to provide additional disclosure. This will attract additional costs to preparers. For example, the IASB notes that the proposal to measure the investor's additional share of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities at their net fair value, and include the related deferred tax effects, when purchasing an additional interest in an associate, may be more costly than what entities currently do.*

192188 *However, the IASB notes that some other proposals (for instance the proposals on full recognition of gains and losses for transactions with associates and joint venturers) will be*

less costly to apply than the current requirements/ current accounting policies in place (as tracking of the unrealised gain or loss will no longer be required).

Question 10 – Expected effects of the proposals

Paragraphs BC217-229 of the Basis for Conclusions explain the IASB’s analysis of the expected effects of implementing its proposals. Do you agree with this analysis? If not, which aspects of the analysis do you disagree with and why?

If you disagree, please explain why you disagree and your suggested alternative.

EFRAG’s response to Question 10- Expected effects of the proposals

193189 As highlighted in our responses to the earlier questions, the feedback from preparers and other stakeholders highlights their concerns about the cost and/or complexity of the ED’s proposals in respect of:

- a) acquiring additional ownership interest while retaining significant influence (i.e., layered approach) and the need to conduct a purchase price allocation for each acquisition;
- b) changes in ownership interests that occur without exchange transactions by the reporting entity (e.g., share buybacks by associates and joint ventures);
- c) removing the “‘ significant or prolonged’ decline in fair value” criterion will increase the frequency of impairment testing;
- d) disclosure requirements (i.e., reconciliation of opening and closing carrying amounts of investments); and
- e) transition requirements due to the retrospective adjustment for the hitherto unrecognised reporting entity/investor’s share of gains or losses from transactions with associates and joint ventures, and from the remeasurement of contingent consideration in cases where this has previously been done within the notion of cost measurement.

194190 At the same time, EFRAG acknowledges there is an anticipated benefit of more complete and understandable IAS 28 requirements that will reduce diversity in practice and increase comparability. Users are expected to benefit from such comparability as well as from the increased transparency that will result from the proposed disclosures.

195191 EFRAG will further evaluate the cost-benefit balance based on the constituents’ response to Question 10 of the ED and their feedback during EFRAG’s ongoing outreach.

Question 11 – Other comments

Question 11- Other comments

Do you have any comments on the other proposals in this Exposure Draft, including Appendix D to the Exposure Draft or the Illustrative Examples accompanying the Exposure Draft?

Do you have any comments or suggestions on the way the IASB is proposing to re-order the requirements in IAS 28, as set out in [draft] IAS 28 (revised 202x)?

EFRAG's response to Question 11- Other comments

196192 EFRAG notes that the illustrative examples are not endorsed in the EU and therefore are not authoritative guidance.

197193 ~~A recurrent comment made through this comment letter relates to the implicit or limited reference to the conceptual principles underpinning the proposed amendments to IAS 28.~~ EFRAG acknowledges that Table 2 and paragraphs BC 15 to 16 in the Basis for Conclusions delineate the principles (i.e., principles A to H) underlying the classification, boundary of the reporting entity, initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition requirements of IAS 28. EFRAG recommend that these principles should be updated to, among other things, include the unit of account applied and presentation as well as any other principle analogised from other IFRS Accounting Standards (IFRS 3, IFRS 10) or derived from the Conceptual Framework. These principles should also be integrated into the description of the revised IAS 28 requirements.

198194 Further, EFRAG notes that the definition of the equity method in Appendix A is more of a description of its mechanics and the link made to the cost of associate or joint venture within the definition results in a circular statement.

199195 Similarly, the description of the proposed scope of the revised IAS 28 in paragraph 2 of the ED is circular, i.e., if the definitions of associate and joint venture from Appendix A were to be synonymously inserted into Paragraph 2. Hence, EFRAG suggests that the IASB consider rewording Paragraph 2 of the ED as follows: "This Standard shall be applied when an entity is: a) an investor in an associate; or b) a joint controlling entity in a joint venture."

200196 With regard to interaction with other standards, many stakeholders raised their concerns in relation to the interaction of current IAS 28 and IFRS 18 *Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements requirements*. Specifically, IFRS 18 requires all entities to classify income and expenses from equity-accounted-for investments within the investing category of the statement of profit or loss. However, upon transition, entities are allowed

to reconsider the possibility provided by IAS 28.18 to measure the investment at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.

201197 Stakeholders raised concern that the current provisions of IAS 28.18 are subject to interpretation – for example, the notion of ‘similar entities’ is not clear and results in diversity in practice. Further, it was noted that the fair value option is provided based on the structure of the parent entity (venture organisation, mutual fund, unit trust...) and not based on the characteristics of the associate entity. As such, the same investment held by a different entity would be accounted for differently.

202198 In light of the implementation of IFRS 18, many stakeholders, especially entities in the banking and insurance sectors, raised this issue as a significant matter. Indeed, for the insurance entities, it is a common practice to have equity-accounted-for investments being part of the specific business models which may include a direct link between investments in the equity-accounted-for associates or joint ventures to insurance liabilities forming part of the underwriting result included within the operating profit. Similarly, the banking industry has a practice of establishing joint ventures with entities which provide technical support or other shared services for a pool of banks. EFRAG’s stakeholders consider that the fair value option should be possible for these situations regardless of the structure of the entity which holds the investment (venture organisation, mutual fund or similar entities...) as it would better reflect their operating activity considering IFRS 18 requirements.